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FOREWORD

LeoNArD Buiss, Jr., published his “History of Rehoboth” in
1836. His special merit consisted in culling from the old town
and proprietors’ records and those of the Plymouth Colony the
annals and documents which constitute the larger part of his book.
“I designed the volume,” he writes, “to be a collection of well
authenticated facts.” These were wisely edited and are the
foundation facts upon which the present author and all who
follow him must depend. To this gifted young writer we gladly
acknowledge our obligation and avail ourselves freely of his
material.

But in the four-score years and more since Bliss’s book was
issued much new material has come to light, and many important
events have occurred, including those of the Civil War. The
time seems ripe for supplementing the earlier history and for
bringing all subsequent events down to the present time. The
new history follows with Bliss the order of time in the early part:
Blackstone and Roger Williams, pioneer dwellers in the old town,
opened the way for the Hingham and Weymouth Colony under
Samuel Newman in 1643—4. King Philip’s War is given con-
siderable space, as it had its beginning on the borders and its
ending within the limits of Rehoboth and caused great distress
to the inhabitants. The war of the Revolution is more fully set
forth than in the older history and much new matter is introduced.
Then follows an account of the old Militia of Bristol County
and the soldiers of the Civil War. The history of each of the
churches is given from its organization to the present time, or to
its end in case of lapse. The early history of the Newman Church
is closely identified with the progress of the town, as both were
under one government down to 1759. The Palmer’s River Church,
formed in 1721, has a long and interesting record and is given
ample space. The several Baptist Churches also, of which three
were of the six-principle order, have been thoroughly studied and
their merits fairly written.

Then follow chapters on Education, the Antiquarian Society,
Agriculture, Native Trees, Cemeteries, and various miscellaneous
topics of importance.
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The Biographical section of the book contains carefully written
sketches of more than a hundred men and women, and special
pains have been taken to enrich the family names with much
genealogical material.

The ample illustrations throughout the volume, whether of
persons and places, or maps, diagrams and facsimiles, speak for
themselves and we trust will justify their presence in the book.

We would call attention to the three groups of fifty-one teachers,
of which the town may well be proud.

The writer would acknowledge his great indebtedness to all who
have assisted him in his exacting enterprise: to the historian,
Hon. Thomas Williams Bicknell, formerly identified with the edu-
cational affairs of the town, for many courtesies and for his sym-
pathetic interest in every phase of the work; to Dr. Horace Everett
Horton, in whose veins flows the blood of some of Rehoboth’s best
families, for his constant encouragement and for his helpful sugges-
tions concerning affairs of the olden time; to Mrs. Abbie W. Marvel
for securing names and sketches of teachers represented in groups,
and for her unfailing efforts for the success of the book; and to
Hon. Geo. N. Goff for the loan of old and valuable documents
shedding light upon the past.

In regard to the spelling of proper names we have tried to fol-
low the custom of the families referred to, but where they differ,
who can steer a consistent course? In a single graveyard the
name Pierce was written five different ways. Again we have
Miller, Millerd and Millard; Read and Reed; Allen and Allyn, ete.

We trust the History may prove valuable for reference, as well
as a souvenir companion for the fireside.

In concluding this preface, we take pleasure in acknowledging
our great indebtedness to Marsden Jasiel Perry, successful banker
and man of affairs, lover of Nature and patron of the fine arts,
and distinguished collector of rare Shakesperiana, for generous
financial aid in publishing the history of his native town. But for
this timely help, with the world at war and expenses multiplied,
the book could not have been issued without loss. To this worthy
descendant of Anthony Perry is due peculiar honor for meeting
two-fifths of the large expense of this History, thus affording com-
fort and stimulus to the writer.



MARSDEN J. PERRY
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KEY TO MAP

Outer boundary = Rehoboth in its greatest extent.
SCECNCE = Boundary of original Rehoboth, including Wanoamoiset.
LLLLLLL =State line.
North Purchase, 1661; became Attleborough, including “The Gore,” ine.
1694.
Attleborough Gore became Cumberland, R.I., 1747.
Seekonk set off from Rehoboth, 1812.
Pawtucket set off from Seekonk, 1828.
East Providence set off from Seekonk, 1862,
@® Blackstone.
® Roger Williams’ settlement in Seekonk, 1636.
(® Wannamoiset, ward of Rehoboth till 1667, after that a part of Swansea
and Barrington till 1747, when it came into Rehoboth.
@©® The Rehoboth of to-day and since 1812.
(® Seekonk at present and since 1862.
@® North Purchase, including Attleborough and *“The Gore.”

Nora — North Attieborough was set off from Attleborough in 1887.
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INTRODUCTION

Blackstone, called by the Indians “Pawtucket,”
W which at last under the name of the Providence
River mingles its waters with those of the blue
Narragansett. Its inland surface is partly level
)| and partly diversified by hills and valleys, streams

and cedar. It is delightfully broken by elevations attractive to the
eye; namely, Jacob’s Hill, Rocky Hill, Long Hill, Great Meadow
Hill, and Mt. Terrydiddle, which in turn command views of great
loveliness. Its climate is unsurpassed in New England for its
salubrity, compared by Pastor Rogerson to his native England for
its pleasing variety, its general mildness and its healthfulness; and
much of its soil is capable of large harvests in grain, vegetables
and fruits.

Rechoboth was fortunate in the quality of its early settlers,
vho set a worthy exar-le for those coming after them. The
ruits of that historic .. were comely and wholesome. More
hings of note have occurrrd within the bounds of the old town
‘han even its children ¢ 1 of. They were strong mer —ho won
‘he victories of those early days, felling the dense forest . duing
‘he wild beasts, building homes and churches, erectinyz rude shops
or the carpenter, the blacksmith, the wheelwright, the cooper,

2d the shoemaker, while at the same time wresting a living from

1¢e soil and the waters. In many things they led the way for other
.ommunities; for within the bounds of old Rehoboth was formed
the first Baptist Church in Massachusetts, withits triumphant asser-
tion of the principles of human liberty, the right to worship God ac-
cording to one’s own conscience. Here was the first example of free
public schools, supported by a tax on all the inhabitants. Here
Elder Samuel Peck illustrated the autonomy of the local church by
organizing and maintaining a useful body of Christian believers
for more than forty years. Here on the East Branch of Palmer’s
River, early in the eighteenth century, Ebenezer Peck errcted his
famous iron forging privilege which made the Meadow Hill region

1
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an industrial center of forging and blacksmithing for a century.
Still earlier, on the West Branch of the same stream, on Fairview
Avenue, above Ash Street, Ezra Perry had his mill for turning the
first bobbins for cotton-mills in the United States. On Cole Brook,
in South Rehoboth, Joshua Pierce manufactured the first cast-iron
plows made in New England, for which he made his own models
which were cast in Albany, and at the same privilege he produced
large lots of clothespins, which were shipped to New York and
Albany. The first horse-pitchforks sold in New England were used
by Rehoboth farmers, one of their number having the agency.

It was Rehoboth enterprise that built the Village cotton-mill
as early as 1809, antedating the same industry in Fall River by
several years, and two years later the Orleans Factory was in opera-
tion. It was a Rehoboth mechanic and wheelwright, Dexter
Wheeler, who built the Village mill and later constructed the ma-
chinery for the “White” and “Troy’ Mills of Fall River.

Rehoboth, whose name means enlargement, has produced men of
large caliber who did large things: Benjamin West, noted astron-
omer and mathematician; Simeon Martin, several times Gover-
nor of Rhode Island and Major-General in the Revolution; Nathan
Smith, M.D., founder of the Medical Department of Dartmouth
College; Darius Goff, millionaire textile king; John W. Davis,
twice Governor of Rhode Island; Edwin R. Bosworth, eminent
contractor and builder; Horace Everett Horton, Agricultural
Commissioner of the American Steel and Wire Company; and
those valiant officers in the Civil War, Major Edward P. Brown
and Capinin Otis A. Baker.

Otherme ' too, who were not born in this town, have as residents
brighten$ iu'; name. John Brown, Governor’s assistant and fore-
most map among the early proprietors ; Captain Thomas Willett,
successof to Miles Standish and twice Mayor of New York;
Ephrain] Starkweather, Revolutionary soldier, honored teacher
of youth and confidential advisor of Governor John Hancock;
David Bénedict, distinguished historian of the Baptist denomina-
tion; Lebnard Bliss, Jr., gifted writer and historian; these and
numerous other names adorn the annals of this venerable town
whose history will be unfolded in the chapters that follow.

To know well the men and events of the town's carly life “will
help one better to love and appreciate the topographical features
of forests and hills, the brooks and meadows, the long-travelled



Mllehara

STREETS OF REHOBOTH, MASS.

e ecs



4 HISTORY OF REHOBOTH

roads that lead by the old homesteads, while one's imagination
clothes them with incident and legend, and peoples them with the
spirits of past years. One will more fully realize and enjoy the
comforts of the present day as one compares them with the meager
advantages of the olden time.”

Rehoboth, encircled as she is by growing cities, is destined to be-
come a vast market-garden, as well as a suburban home where
families of wealth and refinement will delight to dwell.

THE IRONS MEETING-HOUSE, 1777 to 1837
In an Ouk Grove, Briggs Corner. Drawn by Win. Blanding, M.D.



CHAPTER 1.
EARLY SETTLERS AND ANNALS

[IT may be of interest to note the meaning of certain Indian
names referred to in this history: —

Seekonk (variously spelled): On or at the mouth of a stream
(Tooker). Another interpretation is ‘“Black Goose’: seaki,
black, and konk, goose (Williams).

Wannamoiset: At a good fishing place.

Pawtucket: The place of the great falls.

Massassoit (variously written): The great King; massa, great,
and assot, king.

Osamequin (spelled variously): Another name for Massassoit.
The yellow feather; from ousa, yellow, and mequin, a
feather.

Pokanoket: Cleared land or country.

Wampanoag: The people of the Eastland.

Sowams: The South country or Southward.

Wawepoonseag: The place where birds are snared or taken.

Kickemuit: At the great spring.

Touisseit: At or about the old fields.

Shawmut: A spring of water.]

The old town of Rehoboth comprised in its greatest extent the
present town, together with Seekonk, East Providence, Paw-
tucket, Attleborough, North Attleborough, Cumberland, R.I.,
and that part of old Swansea (afterwards Barrington) which was
called by the Indians Wannamoiset.

The first purchase of land for the settlement of the town was
made of Massassoit in 1641: “a tract eight miles square” (really
ten), and embraced what now constitutes the towns of Rehoboth,
Seekonk, the First and Second Wards of Pawtucket, and East
Providence.

The second purchasc was a small tract known as Wannamoiset,
which in 1645 became a possession of John Brown and a ward of
Rehoboth. This tract was included in Swansea when that town
was incorporated in 1667, but reverted to Rehoboth in 1747, at
least the larger part of it, and the “Neck” is now known as Bul-

[5)
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lock’s Point. While Swansea embraced at first, besides the present
town, Somerset, Barrington, and the greater part of Warren,
there is no ground for the impression that it ever included within
its bounds any part of Rehoboth beyond the scanty though some-
what indefinite area of Wannamoiset.!

The third and last purchase was the ‘“North Purchase’ in 1661,
now forming Attleborough and North Attleborough, Mass., and
Cumberland, R.I. The North Purchase was incorporated into a
separate town, by the name of Attleborough, in 1694; and this
was subdivided in 1746-7, the “Gore” becoming Cumberland,
while North Attleborough was set off in 1887.

The first white settler within the original limits of Rehoboth was
William Blackstone. He lived in what is now the village of Lons-
dale in Cumberland, R.I., on the river which bears his name,
about three miles above Pawtucket.

He came to this country from England about the year 1625 and
settled on the peninsula of Shawmut, now the city of Boston. All
we know of him before this is that he was a nonconformist minis-
ter of the established church in England; and that not willing
to endure ‘“‘the tyranny of the Lord-Bishops,” he left the mother
country and sought an asylum in the wilds of North America.
He remained in quiet possession of his Shawmut estate until the
arrival of Governor Winthrop and his company in June, 1630.
They first located at Charlestown; but scarcity of water and sick-
ness soon made them discontented and they began to scatter.
Then “good William Blackstone, with true hospitality, came in
their distress to tell them there was a fine spring of pure water at
Shawmut and to invite them there” (S. A. Drake, “Around the

It is a mistake often made to suppose that the present towns of Swansea
and Barrington were ever included within the limits of Rehoboth, although
at first the land was held by her by police tenure (Bliss, p. 52). The early
settlers had land interests in Sowams, including salt-meadows near Hundred
Acre Cove, some of which are still owned by their descendants; the two places,
however, are quite distinct (Bicknell’'s Sowams, p. 141). The only part of
Sowams, afterwards Swansea and Barrington, ever claimed by Rehoboth was
Wannamoiset. This tract of border land (with twelve acres at Wachemoquit)
the town of Rehoboth authorized John Brown to purchase, which he did in
1645, for the sum of fifteen pounds. After 1667 it was included in old Swansea,
afterwards Barrington, until 1747, when a line three miles in length was run
directly northeast from the south end of Wannamoiset Neck (Bullock’s Point)
to a bound near Runen’s River, and that line was extended three miles from
the shore of the Bay, which brought the present towns of Barrington, Warren
and Bristol into Rhode Island. Wannamoiset Neck, thus cut off, became a
part of Rehoboth, remaining so until 1812, when Scckonk was set off and it
was thenccforth included within that town until 1862, when it became a part
of East Providence, R.1.
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Hub,” ch. II.). And they, “liking that plain neck that was then
called Blackstone’s Neck,” accepted the invitation.

Blackstone’s cottage stood near a spring on the south end of the
peninsula on a point of land called Blackstone’s Point. Here
he cultivated a garden and planted an orchard, the first in New
England. He was the first to take the freeman’s oath,—
May 18, 1631, — before the privilege was limited to church
members.

In the year 1628 the settlers of Plymouth made a tax on all the
plantations to support a campaign against one Morton of Merry
Mount (now Wollaston), and Mr. Blackstone of Shawmut was
taxed twelve shillings, which shows that his estate was considered
of importance.

There is no reason to suspect any serious trouble between him
and his neighbors, but Blackstone had no sympathy with their
narrow and intolerant views of religion, and being fond of solitude
he preferred to seek another retrcat where he might enjoy his
own opinions unmolested. The colonists recognized his right in
the peninsula by setting off to him fifty acres, April 1, 1633. On
Nov. 10, 1634, he sold his right and title to this land to the inhabi-
tants of Boston, each one paying him six shillings and some of
them more. A reservation of six acres out of the fifty was made
for him where his house stood.

At a general meeting upon public notice it was agreed to make
and assess “a rate of £30 to Mr. Blackstone,” which sum was
paid him for his lands, as will appear from the following deposition:

“The deposition of John Odlin, aged about eighty-two yeares,
Robert Walker, aged about seventy-eight yeares, Francis Iludson,
aged about sixty-eight yeares, and William Lytherland, aged
about seventy-six yeares. I'hese Deponents being ancient dwellers
and inhabitants of the town of Boston in New-England, from the
first planting and settling thereof, and continuing so at this day,
do jointly testify and depose that in or about the yeare of our
Lord one thousand six hundred thirty-and-four the then present
inhabitants of said town of Boston (of whome the Honourable
John Winthrop, Esq. Governour of the Colony was chiefe) did
treate and agree with Mr. William Blackstone for the purchase
of his estate and right in any lands lying within the said neck of
land called Boston, and for said purchase agreed that every
householder should pay six shillings, which was accordingly
collected, none paying less, some considerably more than six
shillings, and the said sume collected was delivered and paid to
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Mr. Blackstone to his full content and satisfaction, in consider-
ation whereof hee sold unto the then inhabitants of said town
and their heirs and assigns forever his whole right and interest in
all and every of the lands lying within the said neck, reserving
onely unto himselfe about six acres of land on the point commonly
called Blackstone’s Point, on part whereof his then dwelling
house stood; after which purchase the town laid out a place for
a trayning field; which ever since and now is used for that pur-
ose, and for the feeding of cattell: Robert Walker and William
ytherland farther testify that Mr. Blackstone bought a stock of
cows with the money hee received as above, and removed and
dwelt near Providence, where hee lived till the day of his death.

“Deposed this 10th day of June 1684, by John Odlin, Robert
Walker, Francis Hudson, and William Lytherland according to
their respective testimonys.

“Befor us
“S. BrabpsTrReeT, Governor,
“SaM. SEwALL, Assist.”

(Snow’s Hist. of Boston, pp. 50-51.)

A few months later, in the year 1635, this eccentric man again
bade adieu to the abodes of civilization and moved westward into
the wilderness in search of an asylum.

The place he now selected was the Attleborough Gore of history,
on the east bank of the river that perpetuates his name. The
Indian name of the place was Wawepoonseag, a name first men-
tioned in the Plymouth records in describing the boundaries of
the North Purchases in 1661: “From Rehoboth ranging upon
Pawtucket river, to a place called by the natives Wawepoonseag,
where one Blackstone now sojourncth.” The place is now a
part of Lonsdale Village in Cumberland, R.I. In this retreat he
built his house, cultivated his garden and planted his orchard.
His house he called Study Hall, and the elevation on which it
was built he named ““Study Iill.”

During his residence at Cumberland, Mr. Blackstone married
Murs. Sarah Stevenson of Boston, as appears by the Boston town
records: “Mr. William Blackstone was married to Sarah Steven-
son, widow, the 4th of July, 1659, by John Endicott, Governor”;
She was the widow of John Stevenson of Boston, who had by her
at least three children: Onesimus, born 26th 10th mo., 1643;
John, born 7th mo., 1645; and James, born Oct. 1st, 1653. His
second son, John Stevenson, lived with his mother after her
marriage with Mr. Blackstone, and, after their decease, continued
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to reside on a part of Blackstone’s land, granted him by the Court
of Plymouth, during the remainder of his life (Daggett’s Hist. of
Atileborough).

Blackstone’s wife died about the middle of June, 1673 (Rehoboth
records), and he survived her only about two years, dying May 26,
1675 (“buried May 28, ib.), a few weeks before the commence-
ment of the Indian War which laid in ashes his “fair domain.” He
had lived in New England about fifty years, nearly ten at Shaw-
mut, and forty at this place, and must have been about eighty
years of age.

How vast the contrast between his valley with its framed house
surrounded by an unbroken forest as far as the eye could reach and
the same valley to-day crowded with a dense population gathered
in numerous cities and villages! Could that solitary dweller in the
wilderness revisit the sccnes of his sylvan retreat he would see at
almost cvery turn of that charming river which bears his name,
immense manufacturing plants representing millions of dollars,
while the hum of unnumbered spindles would meet his ears, along
with the shriek of the locomotive, the gong of the electric car and
the honk of the automobile.

We learn from “the inventory of his lands, goods and chattells,”
taken two days after his death by “Mr. Stephen Paine and others
of Rehoboth,” that his real estate (not appraised) amounted to 200
acres of land besides the meadow called Blackstone’s meadow, and
also sixty acres and two shares in meadows in Providence.

We learn also that his library contained 186 volumes from folios
to paper books valued at £15. 12s. 6d., and his personal remainder
at £40. 11s., making a total personal of £56. 3s. 6d.

This was a respectable library for those times and for one living
in the wilds of America. This recluse doubtless made books the
companion of his lonely retreat, and the paper books may have
been his diary of events and reflections, which, considering his
original and contemplative mind, would have shed light upon his
character and environment; but very soon ‘“this estate (the mov-
ables) was destroyed and carried away by the natives.”

It would seem that Blackstone delighted in out-of-door occupa-
tions as well as books. He was kept busy with his garden, his
orchard, and his cattle.

He often visited Providence, seven miles down the river, and
exchanged greetings with his friend Roger Williams, preaching to
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the people and giving them apples from his trees, the first that
some of them had ever seen. When in his declining years the
journey on foot became difficult, tradition says that he tamed a
bull on which he rode when visiting his friends.

Perhaps no one thing is more characteristic of this kindly but
eccentric man than the speech he is said to have made to the people
of Boston when about to leave them. *I came from England be-
cause I did not like the Lord-Bishops, but I cannot join with you
because I would not be under the Lord-Brethren.”

Here is revealed a man of independent spirit who could not be
fettered by the intolerance and bigotry of his age.

It is not unlikely that Blackstone had one or more servants
with him in his isolation. He would probably need help in the
building of his house and the cultivation of his farm. Tradition
says that he had a servant by the name of Abbott, to whom he
gave land on the “run” that bears his name.

Concerning Blackstone’s family little was known for many
years. He had one son by his marriage with Mrs. Stephenson,
John Blackstone, born at Rehoboth, probably his only child.
He was a minor when his father died and had guardians appointed
him by the Plymouth Court. He lived on his inheritance till
1692, when, having squandered his estate by his intemperate and
idle habits, he sold his lands to David Whipple and soon after
removed to Providence, where he probably married his wife
Katharine and supported his family by shoemaking. In 1713
he returned to Attleborough and with his wife was legally warned
out of town. Tradilion says he afterwards moved to Connecticut
and settled near New Haven. Tradition also says that a son of
John and grandson of William Blackstone fell at the taking of
Louisburg in the French War, whither he marched in the capacity
of a lieutenant.

His step-son, John Stevenson, came with his mother on her
marriage to Mr. Blackstone. He was then about fourteen years
of age and continued with them until their decease, and proved
himself very serviceable in their declining years. Ior his filial
kindness the Court of Plymouth rewarded him with a part of
Mr. Blackstone’s estate, and ordered to be “laid out unto him
fifty acres of land and five acres of meadow.”

Stevenson resided here, it is thought unmarried, until his death,
Sept. 16, 1695. His time was devoted to the cultivation of his



EARLY SETTLERS AND ANNALS 11

lands and to the pleasures of hunting. (For further details see
Daggett’s History of Altleborough.)

Blackstone’s retreat has undergone many changes with the
lapse of years; nearly all the local features of even one hundred
years ago have disappeared and only the most general outlines
can now be seen. The extensive excavations and gradings in
preparation for the building of the great Ann and Hope Mill in
1886 obliterated the old landmarks. The Mill was erected directly
over Blackstone’s grave, which had been opened May 6, 1886, in
the presence of a lineal descendant, Mr. Lorenzo Blackstone of
Norwich, Conn. The remains were reburied in the neat and
attractive yard of the mill, where a fine granite monument now
stands, erected in 1889 by his lineal descendants. The accom-
panying photographs show the inscription on the four sides.

By persistent research the author is enabled to publish for the
first time an exact account of William Blackstone’s descendants to
the present time. The following statements are verified by Mr.
George Blackstone of Branford, Conn., and Mrs. Harriet (Black-
stone) Camp of Norwich, Conn., both lineal descendants and now
living; corroborated by Mr. M. L. Sargent of Norwich, Conn., in
a pamphlet printed in 1857, entitled “The Blackstone Family”;
also by the Blackstone monument erected at Lonsdale, R.I., in
1889, “By his Lineal Descendants’:

WIllél’}lé\M,l born in England about 1595, died at Rehoboth,

Jonn,? born in Rehoboth about 1660-65; time and place
of death uncertain.

Joun,? born in Providence, R.1., (probably) 1699; died at
Branford, Conn., Jan. 3, 1785.

Jonn,* born at Branford, Conn., 1731; died at Branford,

Aug. 10, 1816.
TimoTHY,® born at Branford, Conn., 1766; died at Bran-

ford, 1847.

JAMES,® born at Branford, Conn., 1793; died at Branford,
1886.

Joun,” born at Branford, Conn., 1825; died at Branford,
1890.

GEORGE,® born at Branford, Conn., 1861; still living.

James Blackstone® was a man of large influence who several
times represented his town in the legislature, and also served as a
member of the State Senate. A magnificent library of Tennessee
marble was erected at Branford in his honor in 1896 by his son
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Timothy Blackstone,” President of the Chicago & Alton R.R.
Company, who died in Chicago May 26, 1900. James had sons
as follows:—

GEORGE,” died without issue.

Lorenzo,” June 21, 1819 - Nov. 14, 1888.

Jonn,” 1825 -1890. His son George® is the last of five
generations born and reared on the paternal homestead.

TimoTHY,” 1829 — 1900.

ELLEN,” dau. of James, married H. B. Plant, developer of
the Plant Line of steamboats, the Southern Express Co.,
ete. Their only son, Morton F. Plant® of New London,
Conn., is a millionaire promoter of real estate in Florida.

Lorenzo” had six children, of whom only one, Mrs. Harriet B.
Camp, survives. His son William N. Blackstone® died at Nor-
wich, Conn., in 1907. He was held in high esteem, the last Wil-
liam of the family. As stated above, Lorenzo” was present at the
opening of his ancestor’s grave in 18806.

Another man of distinction to settle within the limits of Reho-
both was Roger Williams. Little is known of his early life. Ile
was probably born in Wales between 1599 and 1603, of pious
parentage. He was educated at Pembroke College, Cambridge,
and took the degree of A.B. there in January, 1626. (Dexter’s
Roger Williams, p. 2.) There is a story, without proof, that he
studied law for a time after leaving the university. He became a
clergyman of the established Church, then a nonconformist, and
finally a rigid separatist, for which change he suffered severe per-
secution. “Truly it was as bitter as death for me,” he writes,
“when Bishop Laud pursued me out of this land and my conscience
was persuaded against the national Church.” He embarked from
Bristol with his wife Mary, in the ship “Lyon,” Capt. Pierce,
master, Dec. 1, 1630, and after a tempestuous voyage of sixty-six
days arrived off Nantasket Feb. 5, 1631. As John Wilson, pastor of
the Boston Church, was about to visit friends in England, the Church
invited Mr. Williams to supply his place during his absence.

He refused on the ground of conscience and because they were
an ‘“unseparated people.” This curt reply tended to prejudice
the members against the youthful preacher, and hearing that the
church at Salem had invited him to be their teacher in connection
with the Rev. Samuel Skelton, the Court of Boston, on the 12th
of April following, caused a letter to be written to Mr. Endicott
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to say that the Salem people should act cautiously and without
undue haste, inasmuch as Mr. Williams refused to fellowship the
Boston church because it was not ready to proceed to the extreme
of scparation, and because he had broached the novel opinions,
“that the magistrate might not punish the breach of the Sabbath,
nor any other offense as it was a breach of the first table.”
Whether the Salem Church ordained Mr. Williams at this time
is a disputed point. It is certain that his stay there was brief,
as he was in Plymouth in 1631, “probably,” as Gamnmell says,
“in the month of August,” when he taught as assistant to the
Rev. Ralph Smith.

Governor Bradford speaks of him as “a man godly and zealous,
having many precious parts, but very unsettled in judgmente.”
Before the close of 1633 he was back in Salem, assisting Mr.
Skelton “by way of prophecy,” though “not in any office.”” On
the death of Mr. Skelton, Aug. 2, 1634, the church called him to
be their pastor, which call he accepted and thereby gave offence
to the citizens and Court of Boston; but regardless of everything
save his own headstrong purpose, he proceeded to severely de-
nounce the magistrates for not granting a petition of his church
about some Marblehead land. He asserted that the charter of
Massachusetts was invalid and unjust, as the soil and sovereignty
were not purchased of the natives. He declared that no oath
should be administered to unregenerate persons, not even an oath
of fidelity to the government, and that a man ought not to pray
with such, though wife or child, etc. He even refused to com-
mune with members of his own church unless they would separate
themselves from the other churches of New England. These
utterances, which were put forth in an aggravating manner and
at a time when the very existence of the colony was at stake,
aroused against him the opposition of both court and clergy. He
was reprimanded and asked to desist, but he would not be silenced.
When brought before the court he would make no concessions,
and on Friday, Oct. 9, 1635, he was sentenced to perpetual banish-
ment. The sentence was in these terms:

“Whereas, Mr. Roger Williams, one of the elders of the Church of
Salem, hath broachcﬁ and divulged divers new and dangerous opin-
ions against the authority of magistrates; as also writ letters of def-
amation, both of magistrates and churches here, and that before

any conviction, and yet maintaineth the same without any re-
tractation; it is therefore ordered, that the said Mr. Williams
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shall depart out of this jurisdiction within six weeks now next
ensuing, which if he neglect to perform, it shall be lawful for the
Governor and two of the magistrates to send him to some place
out of this jurisdiction, not to return any more without license
from the Court.”

Our space permits only the briefest comment on this famous
edict. Perhaps no fairer statement of the matter can be made
than is given in the oration of Prof. J. Lewis Diman at the dedi-
cation of the monument at Roger Williams Park, Oct. 16, 1877:

“Against this community, so jealous of their rights, the head-
strong enthusiast dashed himself. What they did to him they had
done in repeated instances before. So far from being exceptionally
harsh, their treatment of Roger Williams was marked by unusual
lenity. His sorrowful winter flight when for fourteen weeks he
was so severely tossed, ‘not knowing what bread or bed did mean,’
was no part of Lhe official sentence pronounced against him, but
suffering which he voluntarily assumed.”

Mr. Williams obtained permission to remain till spring, but as
he still persisted in preaching his offensive doctrines in his own
house, orders were sent early in January (“11 mo. January”) to
Captain Underhill to seize him and send him to England; but
having received timely warning he made his escape, and in com-
pliance with the secret advice of Governor Winthrop steered his
course to the Narragansett Bay.

Long before the act of banishment, Williams, shrewdly fore-
seeing trouble with the Massachusetts Bay Colony, went among
the Indians and arranged with them for a possible settlement at
Narragansett Bay.

“In the yeare one Thousand Six hundred thirty Foure, And in
the yeare one Thousand Six hundred Thirtye Five, I, Roger
Wilhiams, had severall Treatyes with Counanicusse, And Mian-

tenome, the Two cheife Sachims of the Narragansett; and pur-
chased of them the Landes,” etc. (Chapin’s Doc. Hist. of R. 1.,

pp.- 1, 2.)

“The reason was,” writes Winthrop, ‘because he had drawn
above twenty persons to his opinion, and they were intended to
erect a plantation about the Narragansett Bay.” (Winthrop, I,
209.)

In describing his journey in a letter to Major Mason, thirty-five
years after the event, Williams writes: “I was sorely tossed for
one fourteen wecks, in a bitter winter season, not knowing what
bread or bed did mean.” The expression ‘“‘sorely tossed,” and in
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another place “‘steering my course,” have led some to conclude that
his journey was by water (Bliss, History, p. 17); but in view of
the extreme difficulty of a sea voyage in a small boat around
Cape Cod in the heart of winter, and the prospect of meeting the
pinnace sent to arrest him, taken with what he wrote in answer
to a letter of John Cotton of his being “so exposed to the mercy
of an howling wildernesse in Frost and Snow,” and also that he
“ . at last suffred for such admonitions to them, the miserie of
a Winter's Banishment amongst the Barbarians™ (Doc. Hist. R. 1.,
pp- 9, 10), most recent writers conclude that his journey led him
on foot through the wilderness where his sufferings were such that
he might well use the above terms ““tossed,” ‘“‘steered,” etc., in a
figurative sense. There is a vague tradition that he spent part
of the winter at the house of a Mr. Smith at Pontipog, now
Stoughton (Doc. ITist. R. 1., p. 10). Some think he spent the
winter as the guest of Osamequin at Sowams (in Old Swansea),
where his entertainment, however cordial, might be without
“bread or bed.” In the spring, probably in April, he obtained of
Osamequin a grant of land in Old Seekonk, afterwards Rehoboth.
The spot in Seekonk where he pitched his tent is believed to have
been at “Manton’s Neck,” below the modern Philipsdale and not
far from the mouth of the Ten-Mile River, where a spring of cold,
sweet water still bubbles up and supplies the family living on the
premises. The place is marked by a tablet suitably inscribed and
fixed to a tree by the roadside. Here Mr. Williams, supposing
he was beyond the jurisdiction of both the Massachusetts Bay and
the Plymouth Colonies, hoped to remain undisturbed.

Ilere he “began to build and plant,” but was not destined to
reap. He soon received a friendly message from Governor Winslow
of Plymouth informing him that Seekonk was within their patent,
and advising him to cross to the other side of the river where
the country would be free before him. “And then I should be
out of their Claim and be free as themselves and loving neighbors
together.”

He was probably at Seekonk from about the middle of April to
the latter part of June, 1636. As a letter written by him to
Governor Vane was dated at Providence, July 26, we infer that
he must have moved before that date. He embarked in a canoe
accompanicd by Thomas Angell. A tradition handed down from
Stephen Iopkins, Esq. (1707-1785), declares there were no others,
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nor is there any hint of their landing on the west bank of the
river at the foot of Williams Street, but “when they came oppo-
site the cove now called What Cheer Cove they were hailed from the
shore by one of the Indians who understood a little English by
the friendly salutation of What Cheer, from which Circumstance
the Cove has ever since been called What Cheer Cove, so named
in the early records of the town—That Mr. Williams made signs
to the Indians that he would meet them on the Western shore of
the Neck of Land, on which they (the Indians) then were—
- Going himself, in a canoe, by water, round Fox Point, which he
accordingly did and met the Indians at the famous Rock and

Spring mentioned by Governor Hutchinson in his Ilistory of

Massachusetts, a little Southwesterly from the Episcopal Church.”!

(Doc. Hist., pp. 18, 19.) The other tradition that there were five

or six in the canoe and that they landed on a slate rock has little

or no historical value. There was indeed a large rock of slate on
the west bank of the river, which was long ago broken in pieces
and buried by the filling in of the cove. The land nearby, between

Williams and Power Streets, was reserved for a memorial square,

in which stands a neat monument of granite in honor of the

supposed landing of Roger Williams and is inscribed as follows:

(West front) “The Landing Place of Roger Williams.”

(East front) “Below this spot then at the water’s edge stood the
rock on which according to tradition Roger Williams, An exile
for his devotion to Freedom of Conscience, landed 1636.”

(North front) ““And having a sense of God’s merciful Providence
unto me in my distress called the place Providence, I desired
it might be for a shelter of persons distressed for conscience.
Roger Williams.”

(South front) ““T'o the memory of Roger Williams, the Apostle of
Soul Liberty, Founder of the State of Rhode Island and Provi-
dence Plantations, This monument is dedicated by the Provi-
dence Association of Mechanics and Manufacturers, 1906.”

The colony thus settled near the mouth of the Moshassuck

River on lands purchased by Williams of the Sachems, Canonicus

and Miantonomi, would seem from the meagre records to have

consisted of Roger Williams, William Harris, John Smith the
miller, Francis Wickes, Thomas Angell, Joshua Verin, and William

Arnold and their families.

Here, with this little company as a nucleus, was to be tried *“the
lively experiment” of a pure democracy. In 1643 Williams went

1 St. John’s Church on North Main Street.
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to England to procure a charter for his colony, returning with it
the following year. In 1651 he again visited England on business
of the colony and continued there until 1654. On his return he was
chosen President of the colony (1654, 1657-58).

Ile refused to persecute the Quakers, but engaged in a famous
controversy with them in 1672, recorded in his publication:
George Foz digged out of his Burrowes (1676). He died at Providence
in 1683, not far from eighty years of age.

We have seen that Roger Williams in his early ministry was
fond of controversy, rash in statement and fearless of consequences.
As he would fellowship none who opposed his teachings he has
been called ‘““The Arch Separatist.”” He suffered for his opinions
and especially for his sharp manner of expressing them. Ilis
intemperate zeal, hpwever, was tempered by the bitter experiences
of his exile and the heavy burdens of subsequent leadership. It
has been well said that his banishment was his enlargement. His
spirit of toleration grew rapidly with the necessity of its exercise,
and in founding a city and state he determined that all should
enjoy liberty of conscience. One phase of his greatness is seen in
his masterly diplomacy with the Indians, securing the life-long
friendship of Osamequin and the Narragansett Sachems, who for
the love they bore him made him sole proprietor of extensive land
rights.

By the initial deed he associated with him in joint ownership
“twelve of his loving friends with power conferred to add others.”

That he had a genuine missionary spirit is seen in the fact that
he studied the language of the Indians and learned their customs
while living at Plymouth; “my sole desire,” he writes, “was to do
the natives good.”

In intellect he was keen and vigorous; brilliant in argument and
magnanimous in spirit. In respect of liberty of conscience, he,
like his esteemed contemporary, Dr. John Clarke of Newport, was
a whole generation in advance of his age. His name is written
high among the worthy fathers of New England.

Among his writings are “A Key to the Language of New Eng-
land” (London, 1643), “The Bloody Tenet of Persecution for the
Cause of Conscience discussed” (1644), “The Hireling Ministry
None of Christ’s,” London (1652).

2
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See Memoirs by Knowles (1834), Gammell (1845), Elton (1853),
Guild (1866), Dexter (1876), Straus (1894), Carpenter (1909),
Chapin (1916).

The real founder of Rehoboth was the Rev. Samuel Newman.
He was the son of Richard Newman, a glover of Banbury, Oxford
County, England. He was born about the 10th or 12th of May,
1602. He graduated at Trinity College, Oxford, with its honors,
Oct. 17, 1620, at the age of eighteen. After studying Theology,
he became pastor of the Midhope Chapel in the West Riding of
Yorkshire, where he remained for ten years. In 1635, disgusted
with the religious persecutions of Archbishop Laud, he came to
America in company with a large number of emigrants, among
whom was Rev. Richard Mather. He resided four years at Dor-
chester and was chiefly engaged in writing his Concordance to the
Bible. In 1639 he became pastor of the church at Weymouth, re-
maining till the spring of 1643—4. At that time the majority of his
church, with others of Hingham, migrated with him to a place
. on the east bank of the Pawtucket River, called by the Indians
Seekonk, to which he gave the name of Rehoboth, a scriptural word
meaning enlargement (Gen. 26: 22).

[With few exceptions the annals and documents which follow are
taken from Bliss’s “Ilistory of Rehoboth.” For the account of King
Philip’s War, the Revolutionary War in part, and for all subsequent
chapters, the present writer alone i3 responsible.]

From the quit-claim deed of Philip, given in 1668, we learn
that the first purchase of land, afterwards included in the original
town of Rehoboth, was made of Osamequin, more commonly
known to the English by the name of Massassoit, in 1641, by John
Brown and Edward Winslow of Plymouth. (Seedeed p.65.) This
tract of land comprised the present towns of Rehoboth, Seekonk,
the first and second wards of Pawtucket, and East Providence,
R.I., and is about ten miles square. It had been granted by
Plymouth Court, as appears from the records of the Rehoboth
proprietors, to certain persons (probably of Hingham) for the
settlement of a town, and Mr. Brown and Mr. Winslow were
appointed agents to purchase it for the colony.

“Whereas the Court of Plymouth was pleased, in the year 1641,

or thereabouts, to grant unto the inhabitants of Seaconk (alias
Rehoboth) liberty to take up a trackt of lands for theare com-
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fortable subsistance, containing the quantily of cight miles square;
and the Court was pleased to appoint Mr. John Browne and Mr.
Edward Winslow for to purchase the foresaid trackt of land of
Asamecum, the chief sachem and owner therof, which accordingly
hath beene effected, and the purchase paid for by the foresaid in-
habitants, according to the Court order,” &c. (Proprietors’ Rec-
ords, vol. I, p. 1.)

No deed of this purchase is on record, but there is a deposition
of John Hazell on the Plymouth Colony Records (Vol. II, p. 67),
taken Nov. 1, 1642, which confirms the purchase: ‘“John Hasell
[Hazell] affirmeth that Assamequine chose out ten fathome of
beads! at Mr. William’s and put them in a basket, and affirmed that
he was fully satisfied therewith for his land at Seacunck; but he
stood upon it that he would have a coat more, and left the beads
with Mr. Williams and willed him to keep them untill Mr. Hubbard
came up.” “He affirmeth the bounds were to Red Stone Hill
VIII. miles into the land, and to Annawamscoate VII. miles
down the water.” No record or deed from the colony to the town
at this time is to be found on the Plymouth Records; but ref-
erence to, and acknowledgment of, a grant of this land to several
individuals is made in the confirmation deed of the colony in 1685:
“Whereas Mr. Daniel Smith, as agent of the town of Rehoboth,
answered at this Court, and showed, declared and made appear
unto this Court by several writings and records, that the bounds
of the said town of Rehoboth are as followeth: The first grant of
the said township being eight miles square, granted in the year
1641, unto Mr. Alexander Winchester, Richard Wright, Mr. Henry
Smith, Mr. Joseph Pecke, Mr. Stephen Paine, and divers
others, for the settling of a town, which is now bounded from
Puttukett river,” etc. The same thing is repeated in the quitclaim
deed of William Bradford, son of Governor Bradford, to the town,
in 1689. This deed, after speaking of grants of land having been
made to different townships, says: “Among others, in the year
of our Lord 1641 [Gov. Bradford] granted to Joseph Peck, Stephen
Paine, Henry Smith, Alexander Winchester, Thomas Cooper,
gent., and others with them, and such others as they should asso-
ciate to themselves, a tract of land for a plantation or township,
formerly called by the natives Secunke, upwards of forty-five years

1Delicate shells strung like beads and called wampum, the Indian currency.
In 1641 this bead money was worth 5 shillings the fathom. ‘Ten fathoms
thercfore amounted to £2.10s. English money, which was the cost of the
township, in addition to which the chief made them throw in a coat.
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since settled and planted, now called and known by the name of
Rehoboth.” These deeds will be taken notice of, and extracts
made from them, when we come to the years in which they were
given. The people, whose names are mentioned in both the above
extracts as grantees, were of Hingham. (See Lincoln’s Hist. of
Hingham, pp. 42-48.)

Although the town had been purchased of the Indians, and
granted to a number of individuals for the purpose of making a
settlement, it does not appear that any general and permanent
settlement was made here earlier than about the year 1643. We
find, however, one individual residing at ‘‘Seacunck” as early as
1642. This was John Hazell, whose deposition relative to the sale
of “Seacunk” by Osamequin has been already given. He was
then residing at “Seacunck” (Nov. 1, 1642), and we find further
mention made of him at the same Court in November:

“John Hassell [afterwards written Hazell in the Town Records]
doth acknowledge himself to owe the king, to be leveyed of his
lands, goods and chattells, &c. £XX. if he fayle in the condicon
following: The condicon that the said John Hassell shall either
take the oath of allegiance to the King, and fidelitie to the Govern-
ment, betwixt this and March Court next, or els remove his dwell-
ing from Seacunk.” (Plym. Col. Rec., vol. 11, p. 67.)

The £20 which he acknowledged himself to owe the king was
a fine for contempt of Court, as appears from the following:

“August 2, 1642. It is ordered that a warrant be sent to fetch
John Hassell, that lives at Sickuncke, to answer his contempts at
the General Court: which was made and signed by all the assistants
present.” (Plym. Col. Rec., vol. II, p. 55.)

John Hazell continued to reside at ‘“Seacunck,” where he had
lands granted him in 1669. And he appears to have owned largely
before, for, in describing the bounds of the grant, mention is made
of “his other allotment, being six hundred acres, bounded on the
east with his fresh meadow and a little run of water and a cedar
swamp; on the west side Patucet river; on the north side the
woods; on the south side the towne land; only the Island and little
upland above mentoned is part of the six hundred acres.” (Plym.
Col. Rec., vol. II, p. 193.)

“Seacunck,” we have seen, was first granted to people of Hing-
ham; but they were soon joined by Mr. Newman and the majority
of his church at Weymouth, in their projected settlement; and
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it is even possible that some of the people of Weymouth were among
the original grantees of 1641, though none of them are among the
names mentioned. It appears, however, that those whose names
are given were a committee acting for ‘“themselves and divers
others.”

The first meeting of the original planters of Rehoboth to be found
on record, is dated at “Weimoth the 24th of the 8th month!
[October], 1643.” The record is as follows:

“At a general meeting of the plantores of Seacunk, it was ordered,

“(1) That the [illegible] lottes shall not exceed the number of
sixty and five, and in case anny of those that have these lottes
granted already fale, that Goodman [illegible] of Cambridge to
be admitted of he please; and in case so manny fale as may
limit to sixty, then not to exceed sixty lottes.

“(2) It is agreed that the ground that is most fit to be planted
and hopefull for corne for the present to be planted and fenced
by such as possess it according to [illegible].

“(3) It is ordered that those that have lottes granted and are
[illegible] inhabitants shall fence the one end of their lottes and
their part in the comon fence, in the same time, by the 20th
day of April next, or else forfit their lottes to the disposal of the
plantation; and likewise to remove themselves and family to
inhabit [torn off] by this time twelvesmonth, or else forfite their
lottes againe to the plantation, allowinge them their necessary
improvements, as they in their discretion shall think meet.

“(4) That if anny damages shale fale out by anny man’s partic-
ular fence, the owner of the fence shale pay the damage, and if
[torn off] generall fence, then those persons that one the fence to
pay [torn off.]” (Rehoboth Rec., vol. I, p. 1.)

The next meeting of the proprietors was held at Weymouth,
“the 10th day of the 10th month” (December), when regulations
were made as to the planting of corn. The teacher to have a
certain portion from each settler. Servants, after four years, to
be inhabitants and entitled to their privileges. Richard Wright
employed to build a corn-mill.

During the year 1643, and probably before any other division
of land had been made other than for house-lots, the proprietors
were required individually to give in the value of their estates,
in order that the allotments of land might be made accordingly,
as appears from the Proprietors’ Records:

“About the year 1643, a joynt agreement was made by the in-
habitants of Sea-conk alias Rehoboth, flor the bringing in of their

1This is Old Style. The year then commenced the 25th of March. See
note on page 58.



22 HISTORY OF REHOBOTH

estates; that soe men’s lotments might be taken up according to
person and estate, as alsoe for the carrieing on of all publick
chardges both for present and future; furtheremore the means
and interest of what is heare exFressed is that by which lands,
now granted by the Court of Plymouth to the towne, is to be
divided according to person and estate, as is expressed in this
following list.

£ s d £ s d.
1. Mrs. Bur 100 00 00| 32. The Governor'’s
Ruth Ingram ac- lot, now ; 200 00 00
cepted in her place. Richard Bullock’s.
2. Widdow Walker 50 00 00| 33. Isaack Martin,
3. John Read 300 00 00 now 50 00 00
4. John Cooke 300 00 00 Thomas Wilmot's.
which still is in the } 34. Robert Morris 94 10 00
town’s hands. 35. Edward Bennet,
5. The Schoolmaster 50 00 00 now ; 134 10 00
6. Will Cheesbrook 450 00 00 Rich. Bowen’s, Jr.
7. Mr. Winchester 195 00 00| 36. The Pastor 100 00 00
8. Richard Wright 834 00 00| 37. Mr. Henry Smith 260 00 00 .
9. Mr. Newman 330 00 00| 38. Mathew Pratt 239 00 00
10. Will. Smith 196 10 00| 39. John Megg's 120 00 00
11. Walter Palmer 419 00 00| 40. Thomas giﬂon.
12. James Clark, } 71 00 00 now 2 160 00 00
nolw l;lglln]n Pl:rr:im'l. .'Slepl;lel’ll"l’ayne's. Jr.
13. Ra ephard, 41. Jose orry,
I)now g 121 10 00 noprohn Peck’s. 134 00 00
James Redewaye's. 42, Tho. Cooper 367 00 00
14. Zachariah Roa 50 00 00]43. Robert ffullor 150 00 00
15. John Mathewes 40 00 00| 44. John Allen 156 00 00
16. John Perrum 67 00 00| 45. Ralph Allen 270 00 00
17. John Millar 69 10 00| 46. Edward Gillman, } 306 00 00
18. Samuel Butterworth 50 00 00 now Joseph Peck’s.
19. George Kendrick 50 00 00| 47. Tho. Houlbrook 186 10 00
20. Abram Martin 60 10 00| 48. Will. Carpenter 254 10 00
21. The Teacher 100 00 00| 49. John Houlbrook, } 186 10 00
22. Edward Scale 8|1 00 00 now Nicholas Ide's.
23. John Browne 50 00 00]50. Robert Titus, } 156 10 00
24. Mr. Howward 250 00 00 now Robert Jones's.
25. Mr. Peck 535 00 00| 51. Will. Sabin 63 00 00
26. Mr.Obediah Holmes, 52. Stephen Payne 535 00 00
now i 100 00 00| 53. Mr. Browne 600 00 00
Robert Wheaton'’s. 54. Edward Patteson,
27. Edward Smith 252 00 00 now i 50 00 00
28. Job Lane, now 50 00 00 John Woodcock’s.
Robert Abell’s. ¢ 55. Peter Hunt 327 00 00
29. Thomas Hitt 101 00 00| 56. Robert Martin 228 10 00
30. James Walker, 50 00 00|57 Robert Sharp,
now John flitche’s.? but now z 106 00 00
31. Thomas Blyss 153 00 00 Rice Leonard's.
58. Richard Bowen 270 00 00

(Proprietors’ Records, vol. I, p. 1.)

At a meeting of the proprietors of Seekonk (the date of which
is torn off, though it was probably among the first), it was voted

!Instead of a capital letter, the small letter is frequently doubled.
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that nine men should be chosen to order the prudential affairs of
the plantation, who should have power to dispose of the lands
“in lots of twelve, cight, or six acres, as in their discretion they
think the quality of the estate of the person do require.” This
applied to house-lots. It was further ordered, “‘that all other lots
to be divided according to person and estate. One person to be
valued at £12 sterling in the division of lands, and that no person
should sell his improvements but to such as the towne shall accept
of”’; also voted, “that the meeting-house shall stand in the midst
of the town.”

On “the 21st of the 4th month” (June), a town meeting was
held, but the records of it are so mutilated as to be mostly
illegible. It appears, however, to relate to a new division of land.
It was resolved that on every fortieth day a meeting should be
held by all the inhabitants “for the consideration and acting of
such necessary affairs as concern the plantation.”

“At a town meeting, the 31st day of the 4th month [June],
1644, lots were drawn for a division of the woodland between the

plain and the town. Shares were drawn to the number of 58 as
follows:

1. Mr. Winchester, 25. Robert Titus,

2. Mr. Leonard, 26. Edward Seale,

3. Peter Hunt, 27. George Kendrick,
4. William Cheesborough, 28. [illegible),
5. Ralph Allin, 29. Thomas Bliss,

6. John Holbrook, 30. The Pastor’s,

7. John Perram, 31. Stephen Payne,
8. The Schoolmaster, 32. Edward Smith,
9. Matthew Pratt, 33. William Smith,
10. William Carpenter, 34. James Clark,
11. Ephraim Hunt, 35. The Governour,
12. Samuel Butterworth, 36. Edward Bennett,
13. Edward Patterson, 37. Obadiah Holmes,
14. James Browne, 38. Mr. Browne,

15. Richard Bowin, 39. Thomas Cooper,
16. Mr. Newman, 40. Thomas Holbrooke,
17. Mr. Peck, 41. Thomas Hitt,

18. Walter Palmer, 42. John Allin.

19. Abraham Martin, 43. John Meggs,
20. John Sutton, 44, William Sabin,
21. Robert Morris, 45. Mr. Henry Smith,
22. John Matthewes, 46. Zachery Roades,
23. lssac Martin, 47. Edward Gilman,

24. James Walker, 48. Thomas Clifton,
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49. Joseph Torrey, 54. Mr. B [illegible],
50. Thomas Dunn, 55. The Teacher,

51. Robert Martin, 56. John Cooke,

52. Widow Walker, 57. Ralph Shepard,

53. John Miller, 58. John Reade.”

On “the 3d of the 5th month [July], 1644,” the inhabitants
signed a compact in the following words:

“This combination, entered into by the general consent of all
the inhabitants, after general notice given the 23d of the 4th
month.

“We whose names are underwritten, being, by the providence
of God, inhabitants of Seacunk, intending there to settle, do
covenant and bind ourselves one to another to subject our per-
sons [torn off], (according to law and equity) to nine persons, any
five of the nine which shall be chosen by the major part of the
inhabitants of this plantation, and we [torn off] to be subjcct to all
wholesome [torn off] by them, and to assist them, according to
our ability and estate, and to give timely notice unto them of any
such thing as in our conscience may prove dangerous unto the
plantation, and this combination to continue untill we shall sub-
ject ourselves jointly to some other government.

Walter Palmer,
Edward Smith,
Edward Bennett,
Robert Titus,
Abraham Martin,
John Matthewes,
Edward Sale,
Ralph Shepherd,

Samuel Newman,

William Cheesborough, Alex. Winchester,
Richard Wright, Henry Smith,
Robert Martin, Stephen Payne,
Richard Bowen, Ralph Alin,
Joseph Torrey, Thomas Bliss,
James Clark, George Kendricke,
Ephraim 1lunt, John Allen,

Peter Hunt, William Sabin,
William Smith, Thomas Cooper.”

John Peren,
Zachery Rhoades,
Job Lane,

“The 12th of the 5th mo. [July], 1644. At a meeting upon
public notice given, it is ordered that such as shall have allot-
ments in the three divisions of lands presently to be laid out by
Mr. Oliver and his partner, Joseph Fisher, and shall not pay the
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surveying of it, by the 28th of the 8th month [October], next, at
Boston or Dedham, according to the proposition of Mr. Oliver,
shall forfeit all such lands laid out in the three aforesaid divis-
ions, into the hands of the nine men entrusted with the town
affairs, who are desired to undertake with Mr. Oliver to satisfy
him for the laying out of the aforesaid divisions.

“It is further ordered, the day above written, that Will. Chees-
borough is to have division in all lands of Seakunk for a hundred
and fifty-three pounds besides what he is to have for his own pro-

rtion, and that in way of consideration for the pains and charges

e hath been at for setting off this plantation.”

“At a general meeting of the town of Seacunk, being the 9th of
the 10th month [December], 1644, at lawful warning given, by
reason of many meetings and other strong causes for the easing
of the great trouble and for the [illegible] and the deciding of con-
troversies between party and party, as well as the proposing of
men’s levies to be made and paid, and for the wellpordering of
the town affairs, as may stand with future equity, according to
our former combination, the inhabitants of sai:il place bave choose
these men here named:

Alexander Winchester, William Smith,
Richard Wright, Stephen Payne,
Henry Smith, Richard Bowen,
Edward Smith, Robert Martin.”

Walter Palmer,

The first meeting of these townsmen, as they were styled, was
on “the 3d day of the 11th mo. [January] 1644,” when they voted
to give Robert Morris, “in consideration for the spare lot he hath
taken,” the first lot in the next division.

“The 26th of the 10th mo. [December] 1644, at a meeting of
the town it was ordered, that, for time past, and for time to come,
that all workmen that have or shall work in any common work,
or shall work for any particular men, shall have for their wages
for each day’s work as followeth: for each laborer, from the first
day of November until the first day of February, 18d. a day, and
for the rest of the year 20d. a day except the harvest, that is to
say while men are reaping harvests.

“It is ordered that the work of 4 oxen and a man for a day
[torn off], shilling and sixpence; and that for 6 oxen and a man
seven shillings; and for eight oxen and a man, cight shillings.”

*“The 10th of the 11th mo. [January] 1644, at a meeting of the
townsmen it was agreed upon that all those that are underwritten
have forfeited their lots for not fencing, or not removing their
families according to a former order, made the 24th of the 8th
month, 1643; therefore we do enter upon them for, and in the
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behalf of the town, to be disposed of as the town shall think meet,
only paying them for their necessary charges, according to a
former order:

Ralph Shepherd, John Meggs,
James Browne, Thomas Cooper,
Mr. Leonard, John Sutton,
Mr. Peck, Edward Gilman,
Obadiah Holmes, Tho. Holbrooke,
James Walker, John Holbrooke,
- The Governour’s lot, Mr. Browne,
Matthew Pratt, Edward Patteson,
Thomas Dunn, Ephraim Hunt.

“It is ordered, the day and year above written, at a town
meeting, that all men that have lots granted upon the neck of
land, shall fence so much fence as the number of his acres cometh
to, by the 15th day of the 2d month, or pay 2s. for every rod that
shall not be fenced.

“It is ordered that no man shall fall any tree or trees within the
space of eight rods of the road and of house-lot, upon the forfeit
of 6s. 8d. for every tree fallen without the consent of the owner
of the lot.

“It is agreed that Edward Bennett shall have the ground that
his house standeth upon, and so much of the breadth of the
ground as he hath railed in to the edge of the hill towards the
brook.”

“The 17th day of the 12th mo. [February], 1644, at a town
meeting it was agreed upon, that whoever hath not convenient
land to plant, for present getting of corn, shall be allowed to
plant so much as they can break up this year, and shall have it
six years, and then to fall to the town again, either upon Manton’s
neck or else upon the back side of the lots on the south-east side
of the town.”

“The 26th of the 12th mo. [February], 1644, at a meeting of
the townsmen, Richard Wright, Richard Bowen, Alexander Win-
chester, Walter Palmer, William Smith, Edward Smith, being
present, it is ordered that the recording of any man’s land in the
town book shall be to him and his heirs a sufficient assurance
forever.

“The same day it is ordered that no man’s lands shall be re-
corded until he shall bring to the Town Clerk a note for his lands,
butted and bounded.”

It will be observed that the records thus far bear the date of
“Seacunk” or “Seakunk.” Though the proprietors purchased
their land of the Plymouth Colony, yect it appears from the com-
pact signed by them on becoming “inhabitants of Seacunk,” that
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they considered themselves independent of any jurisdiction but
their own, though they were afterwards claimed by both Plymouth
and Massachusetts Bay. In 1645, they submitted themselves to
the jurisdiction of the Plymouth Court, or, rather, were assigned
to that by the Commissioncrs of the United Colonies, and were
incorporated by the Scripture name of Rehoboth,— a name selected
by Mr. Newman; for, said he, “the Lord hath made room for us.”

Next on the town records follow the registers of the lands of
the proprietors. Here we find the following names: Mr. Alex-
ander Winchester, Mr. Howard, Peter Hunt, William Chees-
borough, Ralph Allin, John Holbrooke, John Peram, the School-
master, Matthew Pratt, William Carpenter, Samuel Butterworth,
Edward Patteson, James Browne, Richard Bowen, Mr. Samuel
Newman, Mr. Peck, Abraham Martin, John Sutton, Robert Mor-
ris, John Matthewes, John Fitch, Robert Titus, George Kendricke,
Robert Sharp, Thomas Bliss, The Pastor, Stephen ’aine, Edward
Smith, James Clarke, William Smith, The Governour, Edward
Bennett, Obadiah Holmes, Mr. John Browne, Thomas Cooper,
Thomas Holbrooke, Thomas Hett, John Allin, John Meggs, Wil-
liam Sabin, Henry Smith, Zachary Roades, Edward Gilman,
senior, Thomas Clifton, Joseph Torrey, Widow Walker, Richard
Ingram (now Ingraham), The Teacher, Thomas Loring, Ralph
Shepherd, John Reade, John Miller, Richard Wright.

Baylies, in his Memotir of Plymouth Colony, has inserted Robert
Fuller in the above list, but the date of the registry of his land is
not till 1652, though it stands on the record in the place he has
assigned to it. The name of Thomas Wilmot (now written Will-
marth) is also found in the same list, though I am confident that
there were none of that name in town at so early a period as 1645;
and another name appears to have been erased, and this written
over it in a handwriting of more modern date.

“The 16th of the 1st mo. [March], 1645, at a general meeting
of the towne upon public notice given, it was agreed that all the
fence in the general field shall be fenced by the 23d of this present
month; and whosoever shall be negligent, and not repair or set
up his fence by the day above written, shall pay sixpence for every

rod deficient, and the damage that shall come to any man by the
same.

“The same day, the men after mentioned were made choice of
to view the fences and to judge of the sufficiency of them, viz:
Richard Bowen, Robert Titus, William Smith, Captain Wright,
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Alexander Winchester, Thomas Bliss, Stephen Payne and Thomas
Cooper.

“The same day were made choice of for townsmen those men
whose names are underwritten, for one whole year, viz:

Mr. Browne, Thomas Cooper,
Stephen Payne, William Carpenter,
Mr. Henry Smith, Edward Smith.”
Robert Martin,

“The 16th of the 1st mo. [March], 1645, it was agreed upon by
the towne that the towne shall be divided into two parts for the
making of the foot bridges and the keeping of them, and the high-
ways leading to them to be done by the whole town; the division
to begin at the Widow Walker’s and so on to Will. Carpenter’s
and so on to half; and Robert Martin and Thomas Cooper were
made choice of to be surveyors to oversee the work.”

“20th of the 2d mo. [April], 1645, at a town meeting it was
agreed upon that if any person or persons shall be lacking in
[illegible] to the number of six months shall pay 12d. for every
default, to be laid upon their goods and chattells.

“The same day, Richard Bowen, Walter Palmer, Stephen
Payne, Robert Martin, Williain Carpenter, and Peter TTunt were
made choice of to hear the grievances of all those that their
meadow is defective, and give allowance to every man according
as they in their discretion shall think meet, both in fresh meadow
and salt, when they have viewed the meadows that are yet un-
lotted, and shall give to every man as they shall fall by lot.

“It is agreed that they shall lay out lots to those that have not
according to their estate. That they shall begin at the upper end
of the meadow next to the fresh water. That if there shall not
prove fresh meadow enough to satisfy all that want fresh meadow,
that then for them to give salt for fresh. It is agreed that these
six, or any four of them, shall determine of any of those particulars
above mentioned.”

“The 28th of the 3d mo. [May], 1645, at a meeting of the towns-
men, Richard Wright, Richard Bowen, Walter Palmer, Mr. Henry
Smith, Mr. Winchester, William Smith, and Edward Smith being
present, it is ordered that a levy shall be made and forthwith
gathered, of 12d. on each £100 estate, to be paid either in butter
at 6d. a lb. or in wampum: and it is also concluded that Robert
Titus and William Sabin shall be collectors of said revenue.”

“The 31st of Maie, 1645, at a meeting of the town upon public
notice given, Stephen Payne and William Carpenter were chosen
to go to Plymouth, to the Court, to certify the town’s minds.”

“The 2d of the 4th mo. [June], 1645, at a general meeting of the
town upon public notice given, it was agreed upon that Walter
Palmer, Willam Smith, Mr. Newman, Alexander Winchester,
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William Cheesborough, and Richard Wright, if they will, shall
lay down their lots of salt marsh, where it was cast by lot, and
shall have their lots in the new meadow.

“Those whose names are above written have layed down their
lots, and are appointed to have their lots in the new meadow;
and whensoever the town shall dispose of those lots that they
leave, whoever shall purchase them shall pay unto them 6d. an acre.

“It is agreed that those men that were chosen the 29th of the
2d mo. [April], 1645, to recompense those that have not sufficient
salt marsh and fresh, shall view the new meadow by John [illegible]
house, and if they see it meet, shall allow it to Richard Wright
in lieu of so much salt marsh.

“It is agreed that Robert Martin shall have the lot in the wood-
land plain that was laid out to Mr. Leonard, being the second lot.”

“The 9th of the 4th mo. [June], 1645, at a meeting of the town
upon public notice given, those seven men underwritten were
cl_\osen to order the prudential affairs of the town for half a year,
viz:

Mr. John Browne, sen.  William Cheesborough,

Stephen Payne, Mr. Alexander Winchester,
Richard Wright, Edward Smith.
Walter Palmer,

“The same day lots were drawn for the great plain, beginning
upon the west side; and he that is first upon the west side shall be
last upon the east.”

The lots were drawn by the following persons, in the following
order, viz:

1. Stephen Payne, 20. John Cooke,

2. Widow Walker, 21. Mr. Browne,

3. Robert Martin, 22. William Cheesborough,
4. Edward Gilman, 23. Ralph Allin,

5. Ralph Shepherd, 24. James Browne,

6. Richard Wright, 25. The Governour, —
7. Abraham Martin, 26. William Smith,

8. The Teacher, 27. John Sutton,

9. Will. Carpenter, 28. Job Laine,

10. Robert Titus, 29. Thom. Cooper,

11. Walter Palmer, 30. Thomas Bliss,

12. James Walker, 31. John Peram,

13. Alexander Winchester, 32. Joseph Torrey,

14. Samuel Butterworth, 33. John Holbrooke,
15. William Sabin, 34. James Clarke,

16. Thomas Hitt, 35. Edward Sale,

17. Edward Smith, 36. George Kendricke,
18. Edward Bennett, 37. Mr. Leonard,
19. Thomas Clifton, 38. Richard Bowen,
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39. Edward Patteson, 49. The Schoolmaster,
40. John Reade, 50. Mr. Peck,

41. John Matthews, 51. Richard Ingram,
42. Matthew Pratt, 52. Isaac Martin,

43. Robert Sharpe, 53. John Allin,

44. Ephraim & Peter Hunt, 54. Mr. Henry Smith,
45. Zachary Roades, 55. Mr. Newman,

46. John Meggs, 56. The Pastor,

47. John Miller, 57. Obadiah Holmes,
48. Thomas Holbrooke, 58. Robert Morris.

“The 28th of the 5th mo. [July] 1645, at a town meeting, it
was agreed upon, that a rate of 10s. in every £100 estate should
be levied upon every man, upon his land and goods.”

“The 29th® of the 10th month [December], 1645.

“Whereas there was a second agreement made with the Indians
for their full consent in their removing from Wannamoiset, and the
value of fifteen pounds sterling to be paid them, or thereabouts
in several commodities: it was in several town meetings ex-
pounded that if any one man would pay that particular purchase,
they should have that land, with twelve acres lying at Wache-
moquit cove, and so much more land at Wanamoyset as should
be thought worth the payment of the same. Afterward Richard
Bowen, Robert Martin, Stephen Payne, by the appointment of
the rest of the townsmen, viewed and laid out that neck of land
called and known by the name of Wannamoyset neck, from the
salt water where the Indians had formerly made a hedge, ranging
unto the north end of the Indian field and so round about the said
Indian field unto the salt water. Whereupon, the 29th of the 10th
month, 1645, Mr. John Brown, in a town meeting, did promise
and undertake to pay the said purchase in consideration that the
said lands to belong to him and his heirs and assigns forever.
And it was further agreed upon in the said town meeting that in
all divisions of lands that was, or hereafter should be made, that
what proportion should fall to his share after the rate of £300
estate should be laid forth to him, adjoining to the aforesaid lands
on the farther side of the town, or towards the salt marsh, or so
as may be both least prejudicial to the town or to himself, saving
that 44 acres upon the Wachemoquit neck already allotted him
to be part of the same; and he doth farther agree to accept of
ten acres of salt marsh where he mowed this year, formerly
allotted to him in full of all meadow land belonging to the town;
and doth further promise, that when the rest of the townsmen
shall fence the rest of their lands already allotted on Wachemoquit
neck, he to fence his part with them, and to bear his part in town
charges after the aforesaid sum of £300 estate; and he doth further

1Baylies says ‘““20th,” but incorrectly: the manuscript is plain and cannot
be mistaken.
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promise not to make any such fence so far into the salt water upon
the westerly side of Wanamoyset neck as shall bar out hogs from
coming, nor fence the south point of the said neck a quarter of a
mile on the west side of the said neck.”

“26th of the 10th month [December] 1645, at a meeting of the
townsmen, it was voted that the house-lot and the rest of the ac-
commodations that was laid out for John Sutton, forasmuch as he
hath not come to live amongst us, nor fulfilled the order agreed
upon, and bearing date the 24th of the 8th month 1643, be granted
to William Devell.”

It was also voted the same day, “that a fence shall be made be-
tween the Indian lands, at the marked tree, from sea to sea, by
the last day of the 2d month next, and the fence of five rails to be
laid out by Robert Martin and Edward Smith and 2 more, and
they shall begin at the east side of the neck, and so to the west.
Walter Palmer shall do the first fence, Abrabam Martin the
second, and so accordingly as the house-lots fall in order round
the town;! and if any man shall fail, or be negligent to set up his
fence by the day fixed, he shall forfeit for every rod not set up,
two shillings, to be employed for the use of the town by the towns-
men, [one line here illegible] and those that are employed for the
setting up the fence shall have an abatement in their fence so
much as comes to their labor.”

“The 15th of the 11th month [January] 1645, at a general meet-
ing of the town upon public notice given, it was agreed upon that
a fence shall be made, to fence in the land upon the neck, that is
laid out to be planted, by the 15th day of the 2d month next;
and whosoever shall be negligent, and not set up so much as cometh
to their part of good sufficient fence, shall forfeit for every rod not
set up by the day mentioned, 1 shilling 2d. a rod, and the damage
that shall come thereby.”

“The 23d of the 4th mo. [June] 1646, at a general meeting of
the town, Stephen Payne, William Carpenter and Walter Palmer,
were made choice of to view the fence upon the neck; and in
casc they find any not to be sufficient, that they shall give pres-
ently notice to those that own the fence, and give them a sufficient
time for mending it, as they in their discretion shall think meet;
and, if that it be not sufficiently mended by the time set, then
they shall pay 2s. 6d. for every rod deficient, to be employed for
the setting up of said fence, and they shall pay all damages that
shall come by the defects during the neglect.”

“The 8th of the 8th mo. [October] 1646, at a general meeting
of the town upon public notice given, it was agreed that John

1The town was built in a semicircular form, around what is now Seekonk
Common (the south extremity of the plain), with the meeting-house and par-
sonage in the center: the semicircle opening towards Seekonk, or Pawtucket
River. This circle was afterwards called “The Ring of the town,” or “The
Ring of the Green.”
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Doget shall have all the lands that were laid out for John Megges;
and, because there was no lot laid out for him upon the great
plain, it was agreed upon, that he shall have both his allotments
according to the estate, upon the great plain, and to begin upon the
south side.

“At the same time it was agreed that the townsmen shall make
a rate to get the town out of debt, and also a rate so much as shall
build a meeting-house.

“At the same time it was agreed that whosoever shall kill a
wolf or wolves, he shall have 20s. for every wolf, and to be levied
upon the heads of beasts, geese and hogs.”

“The 13th of the 10th mo. [December] 1646, at a meeting of
the townsmen, it was agreed upon, that if any cattle shall be
found either in the planting fields of Wachemoquit, or in the wood-
land plain, so long as any corn is growing upon it, without a suffi-
cient keeper, he [the owner] shall pay 12d. for every beast so found;
and it shall be lawful for any person or persons, that shall find
any cattle in said fields to bring them to the pound, and take the
forfeiture: and if the owner of the cattle shall find any man’s
fence not sufficient, it shall be lawful for him to recover the damage
of him that owns the fence, provided that there be 8 or 10 acres
in the field.

“It was agreed that if any man shall take down any general
fence, or any man’s particular fence, upon any occasion, and
shall not set it up again as sufficiently as he found it, he shall
pay for every time so left 12d. besides the damage that shall come
thereby.

“It was agreed upon that all general fence in the town shall be
kept up sufficiently, and whosoever shall be found deficient shall
forfeit 12d. for every rod, besides the damages: this order to take
place by the first day of the first month next.”

“The 7th of January, 1646, John Hazell sold unto William
Devill the house which he, the said William Devill, now dwelleth
in, and the house-lot,” &c.

“The 20th of the 11th mo. [January] 1646, at a general meet-
ing of the town upon public notice given, it was agreed upon
that no man shall mow any part of the salt marsh that is upon
the Wachemoquit neck; and, if he shall hire, shall forfeit ten
shillings for every acre so mowne.

“It was agreed upon that John Peram shall have a platt of
meadow that lyeth near Manton’s neck, in satisfaction of his
meadow, so far as it shall be thought fit by those that are to view
the defect of the meadow.”

“The 9th of the 12th mo. [February] 1646, at a meeting of the
townsmen, were made choice of, to view the fence of the town
lots, those persons following, viz: William Carpenter and Robert
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Titus, William Smith and John Dogget, Stephen Paine and
Thomas Cooper, Thomas Bliss and Alexander Winchester.

“The same day it was agreed that Edward Sale, John Dogget,
William Sabin, John Peram, and William Thayer, shall have leave
to set up a weier upon the cove, before William Devill’s house,
and one upon Pawtucket river; and they shall [illegible] the
[illegible] of them during the [illegible] of [illegible] provided that
they hinder not either English nor Indians from fishing at the
falls in either place; and they shall sell their alwives at 2s. a thou-
sand, and their other fish at reasonable rates; and they shall
make their weieres so as shall not hinder the passage of boats,
and that no man shall fish above their weier with any draft net:

rovided if they set not up their weier in a twelvemonth, that
it shall be lawful for any man else to set up a weier upon the
same terms.” '

“The 18th of the 12th mo. [February] 1646, at a meeting of
the towne it was agreed to draw lots for the new meadow, and to be
divided according to person and cstate, only those that were under
£150 estate to be made up 150. They were drawn as followeth:

1. Robert Sharp, 24. William Sabin,

2. Nicholas Ide, 25. Robert Wheaton,
3. Isaac Martin, 26. Thomas Bliss,

4. Mr. Newman, 27. Widow Bennet,

5. Thomas Clifton, 28. Mr. Henry Smith,
6. Ralph Allin, 29. Edward Smith,

7. Robert Fuller, 30. Ademia Morris,

8. Edward Sale, 31. John Peram,

9. Joseph Torrey, 32. Peter Hunt,
10. John Fitch, 33. John Miller,

11. Abraham Martin, 34. Richard Ingram,
12. Walter Palmer, 35. Mr. Alexander Winchester
13. William Devill, 36. George Wright,

14. Edward Gilman, 37. Zachary Roades,
15. Richard Bowin, 38. George Kendricke,
16. Robert Titus, 39. John Matthewse,
17. Robert Martin, 40. John Dogget,

18. Widow Walker, 41. Robert Abell,

19. George Robinson, 42. William Carpenter,
20. Thomas Cooper, 43. Mr. Peck,
21. Obadiah Holmes, 44. John Allin,
22. Stephen Paine, 45. Will. Cheesborough,
23. James Redwaie, 46. William Smith.”

“The 28th of the 2d mo. [April] 1647, George Wright sold
unto William Dogget, all his rights, privileges and immunities,
consisting of his house and house-lot of seven acres, seventeen
acres in the woodland plain, a lot upon the great plain, and 15
rods of fresh meadow lying in the forty-acre meadow.”
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“The 26th of the 3d mo. [May] 1647, at a general meeting of
the town upon public notice given, Stephen Paine and Walter
Palmer were chosen to be committees for the Court. At the same
time Thomas Cooper and Thomas Clifton were chosen  to be
grand-jury-men for this year. And at the same time William
Smith was chosen constable for this year; and Thomas Bliss and
Robert Titus were chosen supervisors of the highways for this
year; and Mr. Browne, Mr. Peck, Stephen Paine, Mr. Winchester,
Richard Bowen, William Carpenter, and Edward Smith, were
chosen townsmen for the present year.”

At the same meeting, cattle were prohibited from the planting
grounds of Wachemoquit, on a fine of 12d. per head.

“The 28th of the 4th mo. [June] 1647, the towne gave to John
Titus the lot before granted to Matthew Pratt; and also gave to
John Woodcocke the lot before granted to Edward Pateson.”

“The 29th of the 7th mo. [September] 1647, at a general meeting
of the towne upon public notice given, the island of salt marsh,
that lyeth in the river between the neck of land belonging to the
town and Mr. Henry Smith’s salt marsh, was given to Richard
Ingram, in lieu of an allotment of salt marsh.

“At the same time a parcel of salt marsh that lyeth in Edward
Smith’s land in the woodland plaine was given to Edward Sale.

“The same day it was ordered that no man shall keep any
goles upon any common, or any man’s property but his own,
within three miles of the town, after the first day of the 6th month
next, upon penalty of five shillings for every gote so kept.”

“The 24th of November, 1647, at a meeting of the townsmen it
was agreed that every inhabitant that hath a team shall work
with his team and one man four days in a year at the highway,
and every inhabitant that hath no team shall find a suflicient
labourer four days in a year, being lawfully warned by the super-
visor of the highway; but if the supervisors in their discretion
shall see more need of labourers than of teams, that those that
have a team shall send two labourers instead of their teams,
being so warned of the supervisor.”

“The 4th of the 11th mo. [January] 1647, at a meeting of the
town upon public notice given, the residue of the allotment that
was given unto Matthew Pratt, he not having remained in town,
was given unto Richard Bulok” (now written Bullock).

“The 13th of the 11th mo. [January] 1647, Ademia Morris,
executor to Robert Morris, sold to Nicholas Ide his home lot.”

“The 3d of the 12th month [February] 1647, at a general meet-
ing of the town upon public notice given, it was agreed upon
that every inhabitant in the town, that hath land upon the wood-
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land plain, shall meet together at his alotment, and set up suffi-
cient stakes for bound marks to his land, upon the second da;
in the second month next: and it was ordered that the drum shall
be beat up near the meeting-house as a signal for each man to
repair to his lot.”

At the same meeting it was also “‘agreed upon, Whereas it hath
pleased the Court of Plymouth to give us power to try all manner
of differences by way of action between party and party, that is
under the value of ten pounds, that there shall be four Courts
kept every year, upon the several days following, viz: upon the
last Thursday of the third month, upon the last Thursday of the
sixth month, upon the last Thursday of the ninth month, and upon
the last Thursday of the twelfth month. And it is agreed that
the jurors shall have sixpence apiece for every case tried by them.

“It is ordered that the constable shall have 6d. for every jury
warned by him, and 6d. for attending upon the jury for every
action.”

“The 12th of the 2d mo. [April] 1648, at a general mecting
of the town upon public notice given, John Allin was chosen
constable for the year following, and John Dogget and Robert
Titus were chosen deputies for the towne, and Joseph Torrey
and Robert Sharpe were chosen grand-jurymen, and John Miller
and John Peram were chosen supervisors of the highways, and
Mr. Browne, Mr. Peck, Richard Bowin, Stephen Paine, William
Carpenter, William Smith were chosen townsmen.

“At the same meeting it was agreed upon that there shall be
added to the row of lots from Thomas Clifton’s to Robert Titus’s
lot 2 rods out of the common; and it shall begin at a notching
at the outside of Thomas Clifton’s lot, and so go on to 2 rods;
but, if it be not prejudicial to the highway, it shall begin at 2
rods wide throughout.”

“The 18th of July, 1648, the towne gave to Roger Ammidowne
a house-lot between Walter Palmer’s house-lot and the mill,”
besides a piece of salt marsh and other lands.

“The 11th of the 11th mo. [January] 1648, at a general meeting
of the town upon public notice given, Mr. Peck and Stephen Paine
were chosen assistants to assist Mr. Browne in matters of con-
troversy at Court.

“It was agreed that the townsmen shall make a levy for the
finishing of the meeting-house, and for the county tax and to set
the town out of debt.

“The lot that was given unto George Robinson, being for-
feited into the town’s hands, was given unto John Sutton, he pay-
ing unto George Robinson his necessary charges laid out upon it.”

“The 11th of the 3d mo. [May] 1649, at a general meeting
of the town upon public notice given, it was agreed upon that
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William Devill shall be constable for the next year; Stephen
Paine and Robert Titus were chosen deputies for the Court;
Thomas Cooper and Obadiah Holmes were chosen grand jury-
men; and Richard Bowen and Robert Sharpe were chosen sur-
veyors of the highways.”

“July 12th, 1649, at a general town meeting upon public notice
given, it was agreed upon that there should be a dilligent search
made to find out the nearest and most convenient way between
Rehoboth and Dedham; and Mr. Browne and Stephen Paine
were chosen to compound with the surveyors, and to agree for
such help as should be requisite for him or them to have.”

“The 24th of the 4th mo. [June] 1650 at a town meeting, those
men underwritten were chosen townsmen for this year:

Mr. Browne, Richard Bowen,
Mr. Peck, William Smith,

Steph. Payne, Robert Martin.

Tho. Cooper,

“At the same meeting the town gave permission to these men
chosen to call a town meeting so often as need shall require.”

“The 10th mo. [December 1650, the county rate was agreed on.”

At the same meeting it was voted “to have a convenient way,
four rods wide (to be made by Edward Smith), to be for the town’s
use, or any that shall have occasion to pass from town to Provi-
dence, or to Mr. Blackstone’s.”

“The 15th day of the 1st mo. [March], 1651, at a towne meeting,
it was agreed on that Peter Hunt should accompany Mr. Browne
to Plymouth to make agreement about the Indian complaints.”

“The 19th day of the 3d mo. [May], 1651, chosen deputies
Stephen Payne and Richard Bowen, for the Court at Plymouth;
Wa‘)ter Palmer and Peter Hunt to be grand jurymen. Surveyors
for the highways, William Smith and John R;ﬁ”

““The 18th of October, 1651, these were chosen townsmen, viz:

Mr. Browne, Thomas Cooper,
Mr. Peck, Richard Bowen,
Stephen Payne, Robert Martin.
Peter Hunt,

“At the same time Peter Hunt was chosen Town Clerk.””*

“26th of the 12th mo. 1651. It was agreed on that Robert
Abell and Richard Bullock should burn the commons round

1Here a new handwriting appears on the records, and the characters used

become much modernised.
$This is the first mention made in the records of any one being chosen for

this office. The records back to July 12, 1649, and those that follow the date
of Mr. Hunt’s election appear to be in the same handwriting.
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about, from the Indian fence, all on the neck, to the new meadow
near, and so far about the fresh meadows as may be convenient;
and they are to have 20s. for their pains, and to begin the 15th
of March next, and to be paid out of the first rate.”

“The 3d mo. [May] 1652. The townsmen counted with John
Reed for two rates, one for the Indians pay, being £7 10s.; and
the other a county rate, being £5 1s. 84. The Indian rate due in
his hand of wampum, at 8 a penny, 18s. 2d. Of the county rate
remains due from the town from him 14s. 2d. Then bought of
John Reed two muskets for the town'’s use, cost £2 8s., and to be
set off in the rates that he did owe to the town.”

“The 24th of the 3d mo. [May] 1652, at a town meeting being
lawfully warned, Stephen Payne and Thomas Cooper were chosen
deputies; Walter Palmer was chosen constable; Henry Smith and
Robert Fuller grand jurymen; and Joseph Pecke and Jonathan
Bliss way-wardens.”

“June the 11th, 4th mo. 1652. It was voted, that by the assent
of the town then present, and being lawfully warned, that those
lots which lie beyond the lot of Goodman Mathew should remain
to the ox-pastor,! and henceforth not be lotted.”

“The 9th of the 7th mo. [September] 1652. At a town meeting
being lawfully warned, those men whose names are underwritten
were chosen raters, to make a rate of 20 pounds for to buy a barrel
of powder and two muskets, 4 swords, match and lead, bandoleers
or porchers:

Mr. Peck, Thomas Cooper,
Peter Hunt, John Reed,
John Peram, John Allin.

“It was also agreed on at the same time, that wheat should be
paid at 4s. 6d. the bushel, or good wampum at eight the penny,
for buying of those things above expressed.”

“The 28th of March, 1653, it was concluded and agreed upon,
that Robert Abell should have three acres of meadow on the
north side of the line, next the town, next the line that parteth
. the land of the purchasers and the town of Rehoboth. This
%e.adlow was given them by Mr. Prince, Captain Standish and Mr.

inslow.

“The 13th of the 3d mo. [May] 1653, at a town meeting law-
fully warned, those were chosen, viz: Stephen Payne and Thomas
Cooper, deputies; William Sabin and Joseph Pecke, grand jury-
men; Robert Martin, constable; Richard Bowen and Thomas
Redway, overseers of the ways.”

1This lay northeast of Seekonk Common, between the new road from
Seekonk to Pawtucket and the Pawtucket or Seekonk River, and extended as

far down on the river as Manton's Neck. It is still known by the name of
“the Ox Pastor.”
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“There were chosen at time of training, Peter Hunt for Lieuten-
ant, and John Browne for Ensign.”

This is the first notice found in the records of the appointment
of military officers. This company is said to have been commanded
for some years by a Lieutenant, and to have been styled “‘a
Lieutenant’s company,” the number of members not being large
enough to entitle it to a higher officer.

“The 25th of October, 1653, at a town meeting lawfully warned,

the following men were chosen raters for the sums of the county

ay, viz: Stephen Payne, Richard Bowen, William Smith, Wil-
iam Carpenter, senior, and Peter Hunt.

“At the same meeting it was agreed on by the town, that the
Indians should have 4 pounds in wampum, in recompence of the
damage they have suffered in their corn by hogs and horses, this
two years; and the wampum to be paid out of the wampum which
remains in Walter Palmer’s hands.”

“At a town meeting lawfully warned, the 12th of December,
in the year 1653, voted that the price of corn should be 5s.,
wheat 5s., rye 4s., and Indian corn 3s. (provided that the corn be
current and merchantable corn.)

“At the same time those men were chosen to be townsmen, viz:
Mr. Brown, Thomas Cooper, William Smith,
Stephen Payne, William Carpenter, Robert Martin.”
Richard Bowen,

“The 10th of the 11th mo. [January] 1653. Voted that the
Indianslthat kill any wolves are to be paid out of the rate by the
constable.”

“The 22d of the 12th mo. [February] 1653. At a town meeting
lawfully warned, Stephen Payne, senior, and Thomas Cooper,
senior, were chosen deputies, to be present at Plymouth, at the

"next Court in March, to performe the business there that the
warrand doth require, in behalf of the town, with full power in
that behalf.”

“The 10th of the 3d mo. [May] 1654, Stephen Payne, senior,
and Peter Hunt were chosen deputies for the Court; Anthony
Perry and John Allin were chosen grand-jurymen; for constable,
Stephen Payne, jr. or Mr. Peck; for surveyors of the highways,
William Carpenter, senior, George Kendricke and Stephen
Payne, jr.”

“The 22d of the 3d mo. [May] 1654, were chosen for military
officers, Peter Hunt, for Lieutenant; John Brown, jr. for Ensign,
téx:,d allowed to stand by the Honourable Bench at Plymouth

urt.”
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“The 15th of the 7th mo. [September] 1654, at a town meeting
lawfully warned, there were chosen raters for the making of the
county rate, and for a town rate for the present debts, viz: Stephen
Payne, Richard Bowen, Peter Ilunt, John Reed and Robert
Martin.

*“At the same time Richard Bowen was chosen Town Clerk.”

“The 28th of June, 1654. Were chosen for the considering of
such lands as shall be recorded in the town books, for the clearing
the rights of any person, Mr. Pecke, Thomas Cooper, John Allin,
Stephen Payne and Richard Bowen.”

“The 21st of July, 1654. At a town meeting lawfully warned,
Stephen Payne, sen., and Peter Hunt were chosen deputies for
the attendance of the Court in August next.”

“The 13th of the 10th [Dccember] 1654. At a meeting of the
townsmen it was agreed on that the price of corn for to pay the
town debts [something here appears to have been omitted] that
wheat should pass at 5s., rye at 7s. and Indian to pass at 3s.”

“The 1st of the 12th mo. [February], 1654, at a town meeting
lawfully warned, it was agreed and voted, that Mr. Browne
should have for his use four square rods of ground to build a house
on, something near the meeting-house.

“At the same time Robert Abell was ordered to keep the
Ordinary.”

“In the year 1655,! the 22d of the 1st mo. [March] at a town
meeting lawfully warned, it was agreed upon by vote that the new.
highway towards the bay shall be perfected, and that is should
be done under the inspection of Goodman Payne and Goodman
Carpenter.”

“In the year 1655, the 17th of the 3d mo. [May], at a town
meeting lawfully warned, Stephen Payne, sen., and Peter Hunt
were chosen deputies; for constable, Stephen Payne, jr.; for grand-
jury-men, Philip Walker and Jonathan Bliss; Richard Ingraham
and John Fitch were chosen way-wardens.”

At the same time it was voted, “that there shall be no common
grass mown before the last of June; and, in case any do transgress
this order, it shall be lawful for any that know it to fetch away
the hay or grass so cut, without any damage to them.”

“June the 26th, 1655. At a town meeting it was agreed upon
that Mr. Newman, our teacher, should have fifty pounds a year;
and those seven men whose names are hereto appended were
chosen committees for the levying of a rate according to person
and estate for the raising of said maintenance:

1 Baxlies has 1654; this in old style is correct.
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Joseph Peck, Robert Martin,
Thomas Cooper, Peter Hunt,
Richard Bowen, Will. Sabin.”

Stephen Payne,

“At this period,” says Baylies, ‘‘so much indifference as to
the support of the clergy was manifested in Plymouth Colony
as to excite the alarm of the other confederated Colonies. The
complaint of Massachusetts against Plymouth, on this subject,
was laid before the Commissioners, and drew from them a severe
reprehension. Rehoboth had been afflicted already with a serious
schism, and by its proximity to Providence and its plantations,
where there was a universal toleration, the practice of free inquiry
was encouraged, and principle, fancy, whim and conscience, all
conspired to lessen the veneration for ecclesiastical authority.”
(Hust. Memotir of Plym. Col., vol. 11, p. 205.)

The schism here referred to was caused by Obadiah Holmes
and several others withdrawing themselves from Mr. Newman’s
church, in 1649, and setting up a separate meeting of their own.

The following statement embodies all the known facts respecting
Mr. Holmes and his withdrawal from the Newman Church:

Obadiah Holmes was a native of Preston in Lancashire, Eng-
land. The date of his coming to America is uncertain, but he
was admitted to the church in Salem, March 24, 1639. From this
church he was excommunicated and removed with his family to
Rehoboth. His name appears on the Rehoboth records as early
as 1644. He became a member of Mr. Newman’s church in 1646.
Taking offence at certain teachings in this church, he and eight
others withdrew in 1649 and formed what they called a new church
of the Baptist order. They chose Mr. Holmes as their minister
and were rebaptized, probably by Rev. John Clarke of Newport.
Mr. Newman, angered and troubled by this defection, excom-
municated them and stirred up the civil authority against them.
Four petitions were lodged at court against them, one from
Rehoboth, one from Taunton, one from the ministers of the colony,
and one from the Massachusetts government. The Plymouth
magistrates merely ordered them to desist from practices dis-
agreeable to their brethren and to appear at the next term of
court, when several of them were indicted for holding meetings
contrary to the order of the court.

Soon after this Mr. Holmes removed to Newport, where he
succeeded Dr. John Clarke, minister of the First Baptist Church,
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in 1652. Some of the Rehoboth party went with him and the
others were scattered for the time.

One expericnce of Mr. Holmes should not be omitted. In the
year 1651, he, with John Crandall and John Clarke, went to Lynn,
and on July 21 held a meeting in a private house. During the
service they were arrested and haled before the court at Boston
and fined, Clark twenty pounds and Crandall five pounds.

Mr. Holmes was fined thirty pounds, which he was required to
pay promptly or be well whipped. Having the strong approval
of his own conscience, he refused to pay or allow his friends to
pay the fine, and was publicly whipped in September, 1651, re-
ceiving thirty lashes from a three-corded whip. Two friends,
John Hazell and John Spur, coming up to congratulate him on his
fortitude, were each sentenced to pay forty shillings or be whipped.

Mr. Holmes died at Newport, Oct. 16, 1682, aged 76 years,
and was buried in his own field, where a tomb was erected to his
memory. He had eight children, and in 1790 his descendants
were estimated at five thousand.

February 9th, 1655, Mr. Peck, Richard Bowen, senior, Stephen
Paine, senior, Thomas Cooper, senior, Robert Martin, William
Carpenter, senior, and Peter Hunt, were chosen Townsmen. “It
was also granted that they shall have power to order the prudential
affairs of the town, and that they shall have power to call a town-
meeting when they see cause.

“At the same time Father Bowen was chosen Moderator to
see good order in our town-meetings.”

By the following extract from the records of Plymouth Court,
it will be seen that Mr. John Browne, a principal inhabitant of
Rehoboth, and for a long time one of the Governor’s Assistants,
was opposed to coercing people to support the ministry, although
he was willing to contribute his full proportion.

“Whereas, a petition was presented unto the General Court,
at Plymouth, the first of June, 1655, by several of the inhabitants
of the town of Rehoboth, whose hands were thereunto subscribed,
desiring the Court to assist them in a way according to the orders
of other Colonies about them, for the raising maintenance for their
minister; the sum of the petition seemeth to hold forth that those
whose hands were not subscribed contributed nothing, or so little
as was not esteemed of, which petition occasioned some discourse
about a forcible way to compel all the inhabitants of that town
to pay a certain sum every year towards the maintenance of the
minister. Whereupon Mr. John Browne, one of the magistrates
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then sitting in Court, and being one of the inhabitants of that
town, and not being made acquainted with the said petition
until the names of the inhabitants were subscribed; to issue the
said troublesome controversy, and take off the odium from others,
did propound that forasmuch as those whose hands were to the
petition desired to submit themselves to a rate, that if the Court
would send two of the magistrates unto Rehoboth to take notice
of the estates of the petitioners, he would engage himself in the
behalf of those who were the inhabitants of the said town, whose
hands were not subscribed to the petition, that they should
voluntarily contribute according to their estates; and if any of
them fell short in this business, he would supply that want of his
own estate; and this he would make good by engaging his lands
for seven years in their behalf, while they staid, though he himself
should remove from the place, which was approved of, and Captain
Standish and Mr. Hatherly were then made choice of by the
Court to see it ordered accordingly.”

In 1655, “Liberty is granted by the Court to the neighborhood
in which Mr. Brown liveth at Rehoboth to make a pound to em-
pound all horses or hogs that shall trespass upon them.”

(Plym. Col. Rec., vol. 111, p. 84.)

Plymouth, July 3, 1656. “Robert Abell is allowed by the
Court to keep an ordinary at Rehoboth.”

“The Court have appointed and deputed Mr. Joseph Pecke
to administer marriage at Rehoboth.” ‘‘And the said Mr. Pecke,
Mr. Stephen Paine, and Richard Bowen are appointed and author-
ized to hear and determine all controversies there between any,
s0 as it amount not to above the value of three pounds; liberty
being left to any to make their appeal to the Court of Plymouth,
if there shall be reason.” (Plym. Col. Rec., vol. 111, p. 102.)

July 13th, 1657. Voted, “That all such persons, or any person
that is behind hand in their accounts with Mr. Newman for this
year present, that they shall make up their accounts with Mr. New-
man by a month after Michaelmas; and in case it be neglected, then
such townsmen as may be deputed, together with the deacons
also, to go to such persons and labor to convince them of the
neglect of their duty; in case they find them obstinate, then the
Court order is to be attended on.”

November 20th, 1757. Stephen Paine, senior, was chosen to
assist Deacon Cooper, “to go to certain the inhabitants of the
town, to put them on to clear their accounts with Mr. Newman.”

“It was also agreed that there shall be a town-meeting this day
fortnight, and in case it appear that any person or persons be be-
hind hand with Mr. Newman, that then some effectual course
may be taken according to Court order, to make such to pay as
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have been negligent in their duty for the settling of Mr. Newman
amongst us.”

It was also voted that persons neglecting to attend town-meet-
ing should be fined 6d.

December 9th, 1757. It was voted, ‘“‘that Sampson Mason
should have free liberty to sojourn with us, and to buy houses,
lands or meadows, if he see cause for his settlement, provided
that he lives peaceably and quietly.”

Sampson Mason had been, according to Benedict (Hist. Bap.,
vol. I, p. 427), a soldier in the Commonwealth’s army, com-
manded by Cromwell. He became a Baptist, emigrated to
America, and, after having resided several years at Rehoboth, be-
came ultimately one of the founders of Swansea.

February 22, 1658. ‘“The following persons are accepted as
freemen of the town, to take up their freedom, namely, Joseph

Peck, John Peck, Henry Smith, Robert Fuller, John Fitch, Stephen
Paine, Jonathan Bliss, William Buckland, Rice Leonard.”

June 22d, 1658. ‘“‘At a town-meeting lawfully warned, lots were
drawn for the meadows that lie on the north side of the town,
in order as followeth, according to person and estate:

1. John Peck, 26. John Matthews,

2. George Robinson, 27. John Allin,

3. Robert Abell, 28. John Sutton,

4. Nicholas Ide, 29. Peter Hunt,

5. James Reddeway, 30. Tho. Cooper, jr.

6. Jonathan Bliss, 31. Will. Sabin,

7. Mr. Winchester’s children, 32. Philip Walker,

8. Mr. Newman, 33. Daniel Smith,

9. George Kendrick, 34. John Dogget,

10. Stephen Payne, sen. 35. Nicholas Peck,

11. John Butterworth, 36. Rice Leonard,

12. John Read, 37. Robert Jones,

13. Thomas Wilmoth, 38. Francis Stevens,

14. John Fitch, 39. Thomas Cooper, sen.
15. Henry Smith, 40. John Woodcock,

16. Will. Carpenter, sen. 41. Edward Hall,

17. John Millard, jun. 42. Stephen Payne, jun.
18. Robert Wheaton, 43. Roger Amadowne,
19. Richard Bullock, 44. Richard Bowen, jr.
20. Robert Martin, 45. Robert Fuller,
21. John Perrum, 46. Will. Bucklin,
22. Richard Bowen, sen. 47. Mr. Peck,
23. Obadiah Bowen, 48. John Willard, sen.
24. Anthony Perry, 49. Will. Carpenter, jun.”

25. Joseph Peck,
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From the expression “the meadows that lie on the north side
of the town,” it appears that this division was of land afterwards
included in the North Purchase, now Attleborough and Cum-
berland.

The 2d of the 9th mo. [November], 1658. The Indians were
forbidden to set their traps within the town’s bounds.

“December the 9th, 1659. It was agreed upon between the
town of Rehoboth and Lieutenant Hunt and William Bucklin
that the said Lieutenant Hunt and William Bucklin is to shingle
the new end of the meeting-house, and to be done as sufficiently
as the new end of Goodman! Payne’s house; and they are to
furnish nails, and to be done by May-day next ensuing, provided
that the frame be ready in season: in consideration whereof
they are to have £8 to be paid in good, merchantable wampum,
when their work is done.”

“30th of the 11th mo. [January], 1659. Voted to agree with
Richard Bullock to perform the office of Town Clerk; to give

him 16s. a year, and to be paid for births, burials, and marriages
besides.”

March 17th, 1659, the town made an agreement with William
Bucklin “to enlarge the meeting-house the breadth of three seats
throughout, to find boards and to finish it complete and answer-
able to the rest, with seats, the town finding nails.”

“The 19th, 12th mo. [February] 1660, at a general town meeting,
Capt. Willet, Mr. Peck, Richard Bowen, Stephen Payne, sen.,
Lieutenant Hunt, were chosen by the town, and empowered to
view the town book, and to see that it be transcribed into a new
book, all such things as they shall judge material for the good
of the town, as also for the clearing of evidences of men’s lands,
according to Court orders, made in 1654.”

21st of the 12th mo. [February] 1660. In town meeting it was
voted “that Mr. Willet should have liberty to take up five hun-
dred or six hundred acres of land northward or eastward, beyond
;hel:goun(lifs of our town, where he shall think it most convenient
or himself.”

1st day 2d mo. [April] 1661. Gilbert Brooks of Scituate, had
“free liberty to be an inhabitant of Rehoboth, and to purchase
what he may, if he be minded to come among us.”

In this year, Captain Thomas Willet, empowered by the Court
of Plymouth, and having obtained the consent of the town of

1This title Goodman, 1 have been informed, was used formerly much the
same as Mr., Master, or Mister is with us at the present day.
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Rehoboth, purchased of Wamsitta,! or (as he is more commonly
called), Alexander, the elder brother of king Philip and son of
Massassoit, a large tract of land, which was called Rehoboth North
Purchase, now Attleborough, Mass., and Cumberland, R.I. “It
was bounded,” says Daggett, “West by Pawtucket river, now
Blackstone; North by the Massachusetts Colony or the bay line
(so called); East by territory which was afterwards the Taunton
North Purchase, now Mansfield, Norton, and Easton; and South
by the ancient Rehoboth, now Rehoboth, Seekonk, and Pawtucket.
This purchase included Attleborough, Cumberland, R.I., and a
tract of a mile and a half in width, extending east and west (which
was annexed to Rehoboth as an enlargement), and a part of Mans-
field and Norton. This purchase was afterwards, viz. April 10th,
1666, granted and confirmed by the Plymouth government to the
inhabitants of Rehoboth.” (Daggett’s History of Attleborough,

p. 6.)

The following is a copy of the Deed of this tract from Wamsitta,
or Alexander, to Mr. Willet:

‘“Know all men that I Wamsetta, alias Alexander, chief Sachem
of Pokanokett, for divers good causes and valuable considerations
me thereunto moving, have bargained and sold unto Captain
Thomas Willet, of Wannamoisett, all those tracts of land situate
and being from the bounds of Rehoboth ranging upon Patuckett
unto a place called Waweypounshag, the place where one Black-
stone now sojourneth, and so ranging along to the said river
unto a place called Messanegtacaneh and from this upon a straight
line crossing through the woods unto the uttermost bounds of a
place called Mamantapett or Wading river, and from the said
river one mile and a half upon an east line, and from thence upon a
south line unto the bounds of the town of Rehoboth. To have
and to hold unto him the said Captain Willet and his associates,
their heirs and assigns forever; reserving only a competent por-
tion of land for some of the natives at Mishanegitaconett for to
plant and sojourn upon, as the said Wamsetta alias Alexander
and the said Thomas Willet jointly together shall see meet; and
the rest of all the land aforementioneg, with the woods, waters,
meadows, and all emoluments whatsoever to remain unto the
?aid Thomas Willet and his associates, their heirs and assigns

orever.

1The then sachem of Pokanoket. His original name was Mooanum. He
succeeded Massassoit as sachem of the Wampanoags, and died in the summer
of 1662. His wife’s name was Namumpum or Wetamoo.—See Drake's Book
of the Indians, b. 3, c. 1, pp. 1-8.
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Witness my hand and seal this eighth day of April, in the year
1661.
“The mark of A X A
Wamsitta alias Alexander,
his seal [L.s.]
“Signed, sealed and delivered
in presence of
John Browne, jr.
Jonathan Bosworth,
John Sassaman, Interpreter.”

“April 10th, 1666. Witnesseth these presents, that Captain
Thomas Willet above said hath and doth hereby resign, deliver
and make over all and singular the lands above mentioned, pur-
chased of Wamsitta alias Alexander, chief Sachem of Pokanokett,
according unto the bounds above expressed, with all and singular
the benefits, privileges, and immunities thereunto appertaining,
unto Mr. Thomas Prence, Major Josias Winslow, Capt. Thomas
Southworth, and Mr. Constant Southworth, in the behalf of the
Colony of New Plymouth. In witness whereof he doth hereunto
set his hand and seal.

“THoMas WILLET. [L.8.]
“Signed, sealed and delivered

in presence of

Daniel Smith,

Nicholas Peck.”

“6th, 7th mo. [September] 1661. Lieutenant Hunt and Joseph
Peck were chosen to view the damage in the Indians’ corn upon
Kickamuet neck, and Consumpsit neck, and to give the town
notice of it.”

The 14th of the 9th mo. [November] 1661. ‘“‘Lieutenant Hunt
and William Sabin were chosen to confer with Mr. Willet to know
whal:. he hath done about the north side of the town in the behalf
of the town.”

27th of the 12th mo. [February] 1661. Samuel Luther was per-
mitted to be a sojourner to buy or hire.

“Plymouth, 1661. It is ordered by the Court that the ward
of Rehoboth shall extend unto Sowamsett! and unto all the
neighbours there inhabiting, as to the constable of Rehoboth, his
execution of his office, as occasion shall require, which he is re-
quired by his orders to do and perform, as well there as in any other
part of that constablericke.” (Plym. Col. Rec., vol. 111, p. 234.)

The 28th of the 5th mo. [July] 1662. It was voted that John
Woodcock should have two rods of land to build a small house

1Bristol or Barrington, — probably the former.
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on for himself and his family to be in on the Lord’s day, in some
convenient place near the meeting-house; and Goodman Paine
and Lieutenant Hunt were chosen to see where the most con-
venient place for it might be.”

December 16th, 1662. A fine of 1s. 6d. was ordered to be im-
posed on those who neglected to attend town-meeting.

During this year the town was afflicted with the loss of one of
its most influential and useful inhabitants, Mr. John Brown. He
died April 10, 1662, at Wannamoiset. The following notice is
made of him by Morton in his New-England’s Memorial (pp
295, 296, 297):

“This year Mr. John Brown ended this life; in his younger
years travelling into the low countries, he came acquainted with,
and took good fiking to, the reverend pastor of the church of Christ
at Leyden, as also to sundry of the brethren of that church:
which ancient amity induced him (upon his coming over to New-
England) to seat himself in the jurisdiction of New Plimouth, n
which he was chosen a magistrate; in which place he served God
and the country several years; he was well accomplished with
abilities to both civil and religious concernments, and attained,
through God’s grace, unto a comfortable perswasion of the love
and favour of God to him; he, falling sick of a fever, with much
serenity and spiritual comfort, fell asleep in the Lord, and was
honourably buried at Wannamoiset near Rehoboth, in the spring
of the year abovesaid.”

Ile was first elected to the office of assistant in Plymouth
Colony in 1636, which office he ably filled for seventeen years.
He was also one of the Commissioners of the United Colonies of
New England from 1644 to 1655. ‘T’he mention of this latter fact
may serve to show in what estimation he was held in the colony,
when we recollect that only two persons were chosen from each
colony to that office. He was made a freeman of the colony of
Plymouth in 1634.2 He was one of the original proprietors of the
town, and owned large estates in land both at Rehoboth and
Wannamoiset. Mr. Brown was a friend to religious toleration,
and was the first of the Plymouth magistrates who expressed
scruples as to the expediency of coercing the people to support
the ministry. He was a man of talent, integrity, and piety, and
his death was deeply felt through the whole colony. James Brown,
who also was assistant in 1655, and lived at Swansey, was his son.

1Rehoboth Town Record of deaths and burials.
*Baylies’ Hist. Mem. of Plym. Col. vol. I, p. 201.
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“July 3d, 1663. It was voted by the town to send a letter to
Samuel Fuller of Plymouth, that if he will come upon trial accord-
ing to his own proposition, the town is willing to accept of him;
and in case the town and he do accord, the town is willing to
accommodate him in the best way they can for his encouragement.

“It was also voted and agreed that his mother should be sent
to, to see if she be willing to come and dwell amongst us, to attend
on the office of a midwife, to answer the town’s necessity, which
at present is great.”

Mr. Fuller was a physician residing at Plymouth.

At the same town meeting, Goodman Searle was accepted as
an inhabitant, and a home lot voted to him.

In this year the town experienced a severe loss in the death of
their beloved and venerable pastor, the Rev. Samuel Newman.
He died on the 5th of July, 1663, in his 62d year. The manner
of his death was singular and awakened much comment. Just
one week before, on Sunday, June 28, he delivered his last sermon
from Job 14: 14: ‘““‘All the days of my appointed time will I wait,
till my change come.” Although in good health at the time he
told his astonished people that his mission on earth was closed.
He retired to his home, grew weak without pain, and the following
Sunday, July 5, with a few friends about him, he asked Deacon
Cooper to close the parting with prayer, immediately after
which he turned his face to the wall, saying, ‘“‘And now, ye angels
of the Lord Jesus, come do your office,”” and gently expired.

His departure was deeply lamented by his bereaved flock and
by all who knew him. He was a fine preacher, an eminent scholar
and a truly devout man. His Concordance of the Bible was a
great work, of which there were three editions in his lifetime.
The first was published in London in 1643, in folio. This he re-
vised while in Rehoboth, ‘“‘using in the evening pine-knots instead
of candles.” The second edition was published at London in
1650, and the third in 1658. The Cambridge Concordance of
1662 was based on Newman’s book with but scant credit to its
learned author, nor did he receive much pecuniary gain from any
of his books. A copy of his Concordance is in the Rehoboth
Antiquarian Collection.

Mather in his Magnalia says of Newman: ‘“‘He loved his church
as if it had been his family, and taught his family as if it had been
his church.” His library was burned by the Indians in the con-
flagration at Rehoboth, March 28, 1676, but Mather somehow
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recovered the fragment containing the thirteen articles of his
private platform, which are as follows:

“Noles or marks of grace, I find in myself: not wherein I desire
to glory, but to take ground of Assurance, and after our Apostle’s
rules, fo make my election sure, though I find them but in weak
measure.

. I love God, and desire to love God, principally for himself.

. I desire to requite evil with good.

. A looking up to God, to see him, and his hand in all things

that befall me.

?reaber fear of displeasing God, than all the world.

f ove of such christians as 1 never saw, or received good

rom.

. A grief when I see God’s commands broken by any person.

. A mourning for not finding the assurance of God’s love, and
the sense of his favour, in that comfortable manner, at one
time as at another; and not being able to serve God as I
should.

. A willingness to give God the glory of any ability to do good.

- A joy when I am in christian company, in Godly conference.

. A grief, when I perceive it goes ill with christians, and the
contrary.

11. A constant performance of secret duties, between God and my-

self, morning and evening.

12. A bewa.llmg of such sins, which none in the world can accuse

me of.

13. A choosing of suffering to avoid sin.”

Mr. Newman had three sons and one daughter (Hopestill).
Samuel, Jr., the eldest son, lived and died at Rehoboth; Antipas
was minister at Wenham, who married Elizabeth, daughter of
Gov. Winthrop, and died October 15, 1672; Noah was his father’s
successor in the ministry at Rehoboth and died April 16, 1678;
Hopestill, born at Weymouth, November 29, 1641, became the
wife of Rev. George Shove, the third minister of Taunton, and
died March 7, 1674. They had five children, three sons and two
daughters.

Mr. Newman was interred in the old burying ground at Seekonk
(now East Providence, R.I.). A fine monument stands there,
inscribed with his name and that of his son Noah, and several
of their successors.!

In Scptember, 1663, “At a meeting of the church and town, it
was concluded that Mr. Zachariah Symes should have forty pounds

1See S. C. Newman's “Rehoboth in the Past,”” which embraces all essential
facts relating to his ancestors and has a full bibliography.
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for this year, and his diet at Mrs. Newman’s besides. At the
same time Stephen Payne, senior, and Lieutenant Hunt were
chosen to go down to his friends, to use means for the settling of
him with us for this present year.”

November 2, 1663. ‘At a town meeting lawfully warned, those
men whose names are here following and appended, were chosen and
empowered by the town, either to buy Joseph Peck’s house and
house-lot, and to set up an addition to it, to make it fit for the
ministry, if they judge it convenient for such a use, or to build

+a new house upon the town’s lands, whether they in their wisdom
shall judge to be most convenient: Goodman Payne, John Allen,
sen., Lieutenant Hunt, Mr. Browne, Anthony Perry, Goodman

+ Walker, Thomas Cooper, jr., Henry Smith.
- “At the same time it was voted, that a rate should be made
to raise charges for to build a house for the ministry, when the
townsmen shall call for it; and that the price of corn for the carry-
ing on of the building of the public house shall be — Indian corn

. at 3s., rye at 4s., and wheat at 5s.; and what cattle are paid to-
wards it is to be good at May-day next, or thereabouts, all horse
kind and hogs being excepted against.”

“Nov. 25, 1663. Voted, that Alexander, the Irishman, a brick-
maker, should be freely approved among us, for to make brick,
and that he should have free liberty to make use of the clay and
wood on the commons for that purpose.”

At the same time, ‘‘it was voted and agreed upon, that, whereas
God by his providence hath lately taken away from us our dear
teacher, yet out of his goodness and mercy hath brought amongst
us Mr. Zachariah Symes, whom we honour and respect; yet with
reference to the place we live in, we judge it expedient to look
out for another godly, able minister to labour with him in the
work of the ministry, and therefore do accept of Mr. Willet’s
proposition, as to embrace any opportunity that Providence shall
guide him to for that end.”

June 20, 1664. It was voted, ‘“‘that the public house, intended
for the ministry, shall be set on the west side of the run, in the mid-
dle of the common, being the place appointed for a teacher’s
lot, being six acres.”

December 20, 1664. Four pounds and seventeen shillings were
voted, being the sum which Captain Willet agreed to give Philip
for growing corn in the neck, and that Captain Willet should
agree with Philip for the year ensuing.

“January 24, 1664 [1665.!] At a town meeting upon public

notice given, it was agreed by vote, that the former power that
was granted to Mr. Willet, for to procure an able minister to assist

! New Style.
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Mr. Symes in the ministry, was further confirmed to him by the
town.”

May 22, 1665. ‘“‘Sam, the Indian that keeps the cows, was
admitted by the town as an inhabitant, to buy or hire house or
lands if he can, in case the Court allow it.”

‘“Ihis,” says Baylies, “is believed to have been the first and
only instance of an Indian resident among the English, who was
admitted to the rights of citizenship within this colony.”

Whether or not this vote was “‘allowed by the Court” we are
not informed.

May 22, 1665. ‘“‘John Lowell was admitted by the town to buy
or hire house or land if he can.”

June 6, 1665. The town voted to pay the Governour their pro-
portion of £50; also, that there be a standing council, three in
number, with the Governour, and that this council be renewed -
yearly.

April 18, 1666. It was voted by the town, ““that the late pur-
chasers of land upon the north side of our town shall bear forty
shillings in a rate of £5, and so proportionable in all other public
charges.

“It was also voted that there shall be a three railed fence set
up and maintained, between the late purchased land on the north
side of the town, to be set up on all the end of the plain from Good-
man Buckland’s lands to the Mill river; and every man that is
interested in said purchased lands to bear an equal proportion in
the aforesaid fence according to their proportion of lands.

“Voted also to make choice of a committee for the settling and
stating of the late purchased lands on the north side of our town,
viz: whether such as at present seem questionable are true pro-
prictors of the aforesaid lands: and the committee chosen were
Capt. Willet, with the townsmen, and those that stand engaged
for the payment of the aforesaid purchased lands.”

This committee reported, April 23d.

It was also voted by the town, “that Mr. Goodman Martin shall
enjoy a spot of fresh meadow that lies on the north side of the
town, lying at the end of the Great Plain, during his life and his
wife’s, and at their decease to return to the town.

“At the same time it was agreed between the town and Capt.
Willett, that for the forty acres of meadow that he is to have to
his farm, on the north side of the town, he is, by agreement made
with the town, to have high Squisset and low Squisset; and the
bounds of the said Squisset meadows to be according to the sight
of the surveyors, the day that they laid out his farm, that is,
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Henry Smith and William Carpenter; and heis also to have a piece
of meadow at the Seven Mile river, near unto the going out at
the highway, and six acres of meadow at the Ten Mile river, and
what there wants of the six acres in quality is to be made up in
quantity; the said six acres of meadow on the Ten Mile river lies-
by the old highway as we go into the bay.”

“April 23, 1666. The committee that was chosen by the town,
April 18th, 1666, at a town meeting, for the stating and settling
of the late purchased lands, upon the north side of our town, the
aforesaid committee being met together, this twenty-third of
April, we see cause that there shall be seventy-six whole shares
and equal purchasers in the aforesaid lands, and six persons that
have half shares, which we see cause to add to the seventy-six
whole shares, so that the whole number of shares amounts to
seventy-nine shares.”

May 15, 1666. In town meeting, “It was agreed by joint con-
sent, that a third man alone for the work of the ministry should
be forthwith looked for, and such a one as may preach to the sat-
isfaction of the whole (if it be the will of God for the settling of
peace amongst us, according to the former renewed counsel sent
us from our honored Governor and Assistants).”

The meeting was adjourned to the 19th, to make choice of a
committee to obtain a “third man alone for the work of the minis-
try.” “Richard Bullock declared his protest against this act,
as judging it the sole work of the church.”

May 19, 1666. ‘““Ata town meeting lawfully warned, the town
concluded to have a meeting upon the last Tuesday in June, to
consider of the meadows on the north side of the town, how they
may be disposed of for this present year; it is therefore agreed
by this town, that no man shall mow a load or part of a load of
grass, before the town hath disposed of them, upon the penalty of
twenty shillings the load or part of a load.”

“May 23, 1666. Mr. Symes was admitted by the town as an
inhabitant, to purchase or hire for his money.
“At the same time Mr. Myles was voted to be invited to preach,
Kiz: jonce a fortnight on the week day, and once on the Sabbath
ay.”
June 26, 1666. ‘‘Stephen Paine, senior, Mr. Browne, and Good-
man Allen were chosen Selectmen to answer the Court order.”

They were the first Selectmen chosen by the town. The Towns-
men still continued to be chosen as usual.
“August the 13th, 1666. It was voted and agreed upon by the

town that an able man for the work of the ministry shall, with all
convenient speed, be looked for, as an officer for this church, and
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a minister for the town, such a one as may be satisfactory to the
generality.

“At the same time it was also voted and agreed upon by the
town, that Mr. Myles shall still continue to lecture on the week
day, and further on the Sabbath, if he be thereunto legally called.

“At the same time, the town made choice of Deacon Cooper,
Lieutenant Hunt, Nicholas Peck, and Ensign Smith, as messen-
gers, to look out for an able man for the work of the ministry,
according to the vote aforesaid, and they are to go in the first
place to Mr. Esterbrook’s.”

October 16, 1666. ‘“At a town meeting it was concluded, that
the purchased lands on the north side of the town shall be divided
between this and the first of May next ensuing.

It was also voted by the town, “that no person shall fall any
trees upon the aforesaid lands on the north side of our town before
the said lands be divided, upon the penalty of ten shillings for
every tree so fallen.”

The same day, ‘“John Doggett, John Woodcock, and John
Titus were chosen by the town to see what timber trees are fallen
on the late purchased lands, on the north side of our town, and
they shall have the forfeiture for their pains, and the trees to those
that the land shall fall to.”

December 10, 1666. “At a town meeling it was voted and

reed upon, that Mr. Burkley should continue still amongst us
till the first of April next ensuing, upon further trial, in reference
to the vote of August 13, —66, which is in order to the settlement
in the ministry, if he be approved of.”

The same day, Thomas Esterbrook was admitted as an inhab-
itant.

“June 22, 1667. At a town-meeting it was voted by the town
that the meadows lying on the north side of the town shall be for
this present year as they were last year.”

Since the disturbances caused in the church at Rehoboth, in
1649, by Obadiah Holmes and his adherents, the religious affairs
of the town had been far from being in a quiet state; and the
number of Baptists, so far from being lessened by persecution
had been gradually increasing. In 1663 it was strengthened by the
arrival of the Rev. John Myles, with a part of his church, from
Swansea, in Wales (England), whence he had been ejected for
non-conformity. This church he had founded at Swansea (Wales)
in 1649. On their removal to this country, they brought with
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them their records, which were in Welsh,! large extracts from which,
says Benedict, in his History of the Baptists, were made by Mr.
Backus, and sent over to Mr. Thomas of Leominster, England,
the historian of the Welsh Baptists. In 1663, Mr. Myles formed
a Baptist church in Rehoboth, the fourth formed in America.
It was organized in the house of John Butterworth, and commenced
with seven members. Their names were, John Miles (or Myles,
as more frequently spelled in the records), pastor, James Brown,
Nicholas Tanner, Joseph Carpenter, John Butterworth, Eldad
Kingsley, and Benjamin Alby. This measure was offensive to
the Congregational church of the town, and to the other churches
of the colony; and the interposition of the Court of Plymouth
was soon called for to arrest the growing schism. Each member
of this new church was fined £5, prohibited from worship for the
space of one month; and they were advised to remove from Re-
hoboth to some place where they might not prejudice any existing
church. In pursuance with this advice, they removed to Wan-
namoiset, and erected a house near Kelley’s bridge, on a neck of
land which is now in the town of Barrington. Afterwards they
erected another house on the east side of Palmer’s River, about
half a mile from the bridge, which is still known by the name
of “Myles’s bridge.” It stood a short distance from the spot
where the present house of the same church now stands. In
1667, these Baptists were incorporated into a town by the
name of Swansea.” This town originally comprised within its
limits the present town, together with Somerset, Mass., Barring-
ton, and the greater part of Warren, R.I.

Mr. Miles continued the minister of Swansea till his death,
which occurred February 3, 1683. His wife was Ann, the daughter
of John Humphrey. (Baylies’ Mem. of Plym. Col., ii, 213, 235-

1 Benedict states that these records, in Welsh, are still in the possession of
this church. The only records which that church now possesses are in Eng-
lish. These commence in 1649, at Swansea, Wales, and contain copies of
letters addressed to the church b{ several Baptist churches of England and
Ireland. I am inclined to think that the whole of the original Welsh records
were sent to England by Mr. Backus, and there translated into English; and
that a copy of the translation was returned to the Swansea church. They are
in an excellent state of preservation and written in a hand altogether too
modern for the date which they bear.

® This name has been written in three different ways, viz.: Swansea, Swan-
zey, and Swansey. The first is the way in which it is written in the earliest
records, and is the orthography of the town in Wales from which this derived
its name.
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250; Alen’s Am. Biog. and Ilist. Dic; Backus’ and Benedict’s
Histories of the Baplists.)

On the 30th of March, 1668, Philip, who had succeeded his
brother Alexander as sachem of the Wampanoags, or Pokano-
kets, as they are sometimes called, confirmed to the town the
purchase of the “eight miles square,” made of Massassoit, or
Osamequin, his father, in 1641, and relinquished all claim and
title to the same by giving the town a quit-claim warranty deed.
Of this deed the following is an exact copy; in transcribing it
the original orthography has been preserved.

Quit-CraiMm Deep orF KiNG Puirip.

“Know all men by these presents that, whereas Osamequin,
Sachem, deceased, did, for good and valluable considerations,
in the year one thousand Six Hundred and forty and one, give,
grant, convey, assurc ence offe, and confirm unto Mr. John
Brown, and Mr. Edward Winslow deceased, a tract of land of
Eight miles square, scituate, lying and being both on the East
and west sides of a river now called Palmer’s river to the property
and behoof of the townsmen of Seacunck, alias Rehoboth: I
Phillip. Sachein, eldest son, heir and successor to the said Osame-
quin Sachem, do hereby for my self, mine heires, assigns and suc-
cessors remise, release, and for ever quit all manner of right, title,
claime or interest that I the said phillip Sachem have, or by any
colour or pretence whatsoever might or ought to have to the
said tract of lands Eight mile square, lying on the East and west
sides of Palmer’s river aforesaid, unto Mr. Stephen Paine the elder,
Peter Hunt, John Allen, Henry Smith, and others, the select men
of the town of Rehoboth; ffor and to the use of themselves and
of all the other Townsmen of the said town, as they are respec-
tively concerned and estated therine, and to the use of all and every
of their heires and assigns for ever. And furthermore I the said
Phillip sachem do hereby firmly bind my self, mine heires, assigns
and successors to free and discharge, secure and save harmlesse
the said Stephen Pain, Peter Hunt, John Allen, Henry Smith
and the select men aforesaid, and all other the Inhabitants of
Rehoboth, their heirs and assigns for ever from all former and
other bargains, sales titles, and all other incumbrances whatso-
ever had, made, done or suffered by me the said phillip sachem,
or the said Osemequin my father deceased; or hereafter to be
made, done, committed or suffered by me the said phillip sachem,
mine heires, assigns or successors. In witnesse whereof I have
hereunto put my hand and seal, the thirtieth day of the ffirst
Month, Called March, In the yeare of our lord one Thousand
Six Hundred Sixty and Eight.”
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*‘be it remembered that
Philip aknowledged be-
fore the ensealing and
delivery hereof that os-

“Signed, Sealed emequin receaved full
and delivered in the satisfaction of the said
presence of Mr. Brown and Mr.
the mark of Umptakisok Counsellor. Winslow for the said
- Eight mile square, and
the mark of phillip Counsellor. ffor the hundred acres,
e lying on the south side
of the bounds of Reho-
the mark of $ Sunconewhew phillip’s  both, now called by the
brother. name of the Hundred
acres to the use of the

the mark of peebee Counsellor. said town.

The mark of phillip P sachem.
the mark of T Tom Interpreter.

(seal.)
John Myles Junio: Phillip the Sachem did
acknowledge this deed,
John | Landon’s mark. this first of June, 1668,
Before
the mark ™ of wm. Hammon. Jos. Winslow,
Joseph Sabin. Assist.”

April 10, 1668. At a town meeting “it was voted that, whereas
the select townsmen did give Philip, Sachem a gratuity at the
sealing of an evidence of our eight mile square, the sum of eight
pounds twelve shillings; that the said select townsmen shall
make a rate for the payment of it.”

At the same meeting the town chose a committee, “to go and
view the meadows that are in the North Purchase, and to acre
them out, to divide them into three score and eighteen parts
and a half, and to mark and bound out each part, and put in such
swamps as in their prudence they think meet, to be laid out in
the said division: provided they do it equally as they can. The
said committe are Anthony Perry, Philip Walker, Thomas Wilmot,
Nicholas Ide; to be paid by the whole company of purchasers.”

May 13, 1668. “It was voted and agreed upon that the new
book of records should be recorded at Plymouth, this next June
Court.

“William Carpenter at the same time was chosen Town Clerk.”

Voted, that the deed given by the Indians to the town “be de-
livered to the committee of the town, that they may record it
at the Court of New Plymouth, the next June Court.”
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Voted, “that a committee shall be chosen to draw up a petition
to send to the Court at Plymouth, the next General Court, that
we might have some redress in respect of the difficulty of the trans-
portation of our county rates. The committee chosen, were Mr.
Stephen Payne, sen., Lieut. Hunt, and Ensign Smith, committee
to sign this petition in the name of the town.”

It was also voted ‘“that the rates upon the north side of the
town be lowered, and part taken off; that is to say, whereas the
lands upon the North Purchase paid forty shillings of 5 pounds
in all rates, that now the said lands shall pay 20 shillings in §
pounds, until the town see cause to alter it.”

May 26, 1668. “It was voted and agreed upon for the en-
couragement of a brickmaker, in the town, the town ordered that
if any come, he shall have free liberty of wood and clay, at the
half-mile swamp, to make what brick he will.”

The same day lots were drawn for the meadow lands in the
North Purchase by the following persons:

Obadiah Bowen, James Gilson,

Samuel Luther, Rice Leonard,
Stephen Paine, sen. Samuel Newman,
John Savage, John Doggett,
Goody Hide, Anthony Perry,
Children’s lands, Thomas Cooper, jun.
Thomas Reade, George Kendricke,
Preserved Abell, John Butterworth,
William Carpenter, Mr. Myles,

Gilbert Brooks, Richard Bowen, jun.
Thomas & Jacob Ormsby, Mr. Newman,
Robert Jones, Joseph Peck,

John Reade, sen.
Nathaniel Paine, sen.
Robert Wheaton,

William Sabin,
Ichabod Miller, jun.
Mr. Daniel Smith,

Widow Carpenter, Mr. Browne,
Benjamin Buckland, Robert Miller,
Philip Walker, John Titus,

John Peren, sen. Nathaniel Peck,
John Ormsby, George Robinson,
Jaret Ingraham, Robert Fuller,
Nathaniel Paine, jun. John Fitch,

Henry Smith,
Nicholas Peck,
Jonathan Bosworth,
Samuel Carpenter,
Richard Whitaker,
Mr. Tanner,
Stephen Paine, jun.
Jonathan Palmer,

Thomas Willmot,
William Buckland,
John Kinslye,
Jonathan Fuller,
John Miller, sen.
Joseph Carpenter,
Samuel Peck,
Sampson Mason,
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James Redeway,
Nicholas Ide,
PDeacon Cooper,
Joseph Buckland,
Thomas Grant,
Israel Peck,
Captain Willet,
Jonathan Bliss,
Lieutenant Hunt,

John Allin, jun.
John Reade, jun.
John Lowell,
Francis Stephens,
Edward Hall,
John Woodcock,
John Allin, sen.
Abraham Martin,
Ovid Bullock.

Eldad Kinsly,.

During this year the Rev. Noah Newman, son of the Rev.
Samuel Newman, was settled by the church and town as their
minister.

December 4, 1668, the following vote was passed by the town
relative to his support:

“That Mr. Newman should have forty pounds a year and his
wood provided, to begin last March, for his comfortable main-
tenance, for the carrying in end the work of the ministry amongst
us. Deacon Carpenter, Lieutenant Hunt, and Goodman Roades
were chosen to see that the aforesaid order should be accomplished,
and to speak to those that are defective in their not doing their
duty.”

From the above vote it appears that Mr. Newman commenced
his ministry in Rehoboth, in March.

January 1, 1668-9.! “It was voted that there should be some

land broke and fenced about the minister’s house, for the planting.
of an orchard, and other conveniences; and the townsmen were
appointed to see the thing accomplished.” :

May 14, 1669. “It was voted and agreed upon, that the house
which was built for the ministry Mr. Newman should enjoy as
long as he continues in the work of the ministry amongst us.

“It was also at the same time voted, that Mr. Newman should
also enjoy the lands, meadows, commons, &ec. of the pastors and

1Style is Old and New. In Old Style the year commenced on the 25th of
March. The correction of the calendar by Pope Gregory, in 1582, was not
adopted b{ the DBritish Parliament till 1751, when it was ordered that eleven
days should be struck out of September of 1752, and the third day of that
month was reckoned the fourteenth. This latter mode of reckoning is called
New Style, and the year commenced on the first of January. Before the year
1752, there was sometimes a confusion in dates, it being difficult to determine
whether January, February, and a part of March closed the year or began
another. Hence the mode of double dates, as “Jan. 1, 1668-9," which is 1669
New Style. And in order to find the day of the month in New Style, corre-
sponding to a given day of any month in Old Style, we must consider the
latter as eleven days in advance of the former, and add eleven days to the
present date. For instance, the 24th of March, 1668, Old Style, corresponds
to April 4th, 1669, New Style.
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teachers, as long as he continues in the work of the ministry
amongst us: excepting there shall be another officer chosen and
settled amongst us, and then Mr. Newman is to have one of the
accommodations of pastors or teachers, and the other officer, if
ever any be joined with him, is to have the other accommodations
so long as they attend their work.

“At the same time it was voted, enacted, and agreed upon,
that, seeing it is the intention of the town to preserve the house
built for the ministry, and to keep it for that use; the town there-
fore seeth cause to engage themselves, that, if it should please God,
that by his providence he should remove Mr. Newman by death,
while he continues in the ministerial work, and should leave a
wife and family behind him; that his wife or family that he leaves
behind him, shall have four-score pounds paid to her or them,
at their leaving or removing out of the house, and the said four-
score pounds to be raised by a rate of the inhabitants of the town,
according to their several proportions. The former word family,
to be interpreted Mr. Newman’s children.

“At the same time it was also voted, that Mr. Newman should
have three-score pounds a year paid him yearly, for his com-
fortable subsistence in the work of the ministry. And Mr. Stephen
Pain, senior, Deacon Cooper, and William Sabin, were chosen by
the town, desiring them to take some pains to see how it might
be raised: that if it might be, it might be raised freely; for every
person whom it concerns to contribute towards it freely; and
that thenceforward persons will take care that it might be effec-
tually accomplished; and also, that the forty pounds a year which
is past be inquired into, to see if it be accomplished; and if these
persons do apprehend that the aforesaid way will not effect the
thing, then the town are to seriously consider of some other way,
that it may be effected for the comfortable carrying on of the
worship and ordinances of God amongst us.”

At the same mecting, “the town with one consent declared
by vote, that the proposition from the Court about sales of guns,
powder, and shot to the Indians, they apprehend it will be greatly
detrimental to our English interest, and therefore declare them-
selves against it.”

July 29, 1669. At a town meeting it was voted “that a rate
should be made to answer the warrant from the Court; and the
raters chosen were Mr. Stephen Paine, senior, Lieutenant Hunt,
Henry Smith, Nicholas Peck, Deacon Cooper, Philip Walker.

“Voted that those that pay butter, shall pay for the trans-
portation of butter, and they that pay wheat, shall pay for the
transportation of their wheat, and they that pay money, to pay
for no transportation of either wheat or butter.”

There wasarate made the 30th of July, 1669, being the first part of
" the payment of the county rate, amounting to the sum of £13.3s.
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November 4, 1669. “It was voted and agreed that there
should be a rate made for the purchasing of powder and lead, as
much as will make up the town stock, according to the order of
the Court, with what there is already. Mr. Stephen Paine,
Lieutenant Hunt, Ensign Smith, Philip Walker, and Nicholas Peck,
were chosen to make the rate.”

December 12, 1670. At a town meeting, “Deacon Cooper,
Lieutenant Hunt, John Reade, senior, and William Sabin, were
chosen raters, to make a rate for Mr. Newman’s maintenance,
according to a former vote.”

November 8, 1670. “At a town meeting lawfully warned, it
was voted that the line should be forthwith run between the
North Purchase and the mile and a half given to the town for en-
largement.”

The ““mile and a half,”” here referred to, was the subject of con-
siderable dispute between the town of Rehoboth and the pro-
prietors of the North Purchase, being claimed by both. It was
given to Rehoboth by a mere verbal grant from commissioners of
the Colony; and was at length confirmed to them by the Plymouth
Court, in the following act of June, 1668:

“This Court have ordered, that a tract of land, containing a
mile and a half, lying on the north side of the town of Rehoboth,
is allowed to be the proper right of the said township. And such
lands as are lying betwixt the Bay line and it, is to be accounted
within the constablerick of Rehoboth, until the Court shall order
otherwise. And that such farms as lyeth within the said liberties
shall be responsible in point of rating at the Colony’s disposal.”
(Plym. Col. Records.)

November 23, 1670. A committee was chosen to meet the
Treasurer of Taunton to settle the bounds between the North
Purchase and Taunton North Purchase. The committee were
Ensign Smith, William Sabin, and William Carpenter.

“January 9, 1670-1. At a town meeting lawfully warned, it
was voted and agreed, that Capt. Hudson of Boston, and John
Fitch (probably of Rehoboth) shall have liberty to build a ware-
house at the water side, and a wharf; and Mr. Paine, senior, and
Ensign Smith were chosen to appoint them the place and quantity
of ground for the ware-house.—John Dogget also had the like
liberty granted him.”

May 12, 1671. “It was voted and agreed upon by the town,
that, whereas Mr. Newman’s maintenance hath not reached unto
what hath been engaged unto him by the towne, that there shall
be a trial made by contribution every Sabbath day, to see whether
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it may amount to his comfortable maintenance; and that the
next Sabbath day there be a trial made, and all persons whom it
concerns do bring in, the first Sabbath, for the time that is past
from the first of March last.”

November 7, 1671. “It was voted that a fence be built to the
minister’s house, and weather-boards put upon the house for the
preservation of it; and the townsmen were chosen to see it effected,
and also they were empowered to make a rate for the payment of
it.”

May 16, 1672. “It was agreed and voted that the townsmen
are to draw up such particulars as may be necessary for the gen-
eral good of the town, as instructions for the deputies to manage
at the Court.”

February 6, 1673. ‘It was voted and agreed that the townsmen
and Anthony Page should treat with our Reverend Pastor, Mr.
Noah Newman, respecting the house and lot that he lives in.”

May 14, 1673. John Woodcock, Thomas Willmarth, Josiah
Palmer, Thomas Reade, and John Ormsby, were propounded to
the freemen at the town meeting, to take up their freedom, and
approved of.

May 20, 1673. “At a town meeting lawfully warned, it was
voted and agreed upon, that the house that our Reverend Pastor
now lives in, and the lot that the house stands upon shall be his
forever, in consideration and in lieu of the four-score pounds that
was engaged at Mr. Newman’s death; and that the former act
of the town, concerning the four-score pounds, shall be invalid
when the town give our Reverend Pastor assurance of the afore-
said house and lot.”

November 13, 1674. “It was voted and agreed upon, that to
every hundred pounds estate rate, such persons shall carry in
to our Reverend pastor half a cord of wood for his winter fire.

“It was also agreed upon, that a due proportion be made upon
the polls, for the raising of fifty pounds for our Reverend Pastor
for the present year.

“It was also agreed upon that a new meeting-house should be
built, and the townsmen were chosen to take into consideration
the business of it, and what is material to the furthering of it;
and to bring in their apprehensions the next town-meeting.”



CHAPTER 11
KING PHILIP’S WAR

IN this tragedy involving the extinction of a race, the reader’s
interest will be quickened by considering the relation of the chief
actors to each other.

Osamequin, commonly known as Massassoit, was the chief
sachem of the Wampanoags, a once powerful tribe of 3,000 war-
riors, but, a short time before the landing of the Pilgrim fathers,
much weakened by a fearful plague which swept away a large
part of the population. This tribe occupied the territory of South-
eastern Massachusetts, including all the land between Narragan-
sett Bay and Pawtucket River on the west and the Atlantic
Ocean on the east, or what is now Plymouth and Bristol Counties
in Massachusetts, and Bristol County in Rhode Island; also the
Cape Cod area, and possibly a part of Norfolk County.

Within his domain there were several subordinate tribes which
gave him allegiance, but each had its own sachem. There were the
Namaskets about Middleborough, of which Tuspaquin was chief;
the Pocassets at Tiverton and westward as far as Somerset,
of which Conbitant (or Corbitant) was chief, succeeded by Weeta-
moo, wife, first of Wamsutta, brother of Philip, then of Petono-
wowett (or Petananuit), called by the English “Ben,” and also
‘“Peter Nunuit,” who cast in his lot with the English; the Sacon-
nets at Little Compton, ruled by the “squaw sachemn’ Awashonks,
a neighbor of Benjamin Church; the Nausets at Eastham on Cape
Cod; the Matachees at Barnstable; the Monomoys at Chatham;
the Saukatuckets at Mashpee; and the Nobsquassets at Yar-
mouth. The Massachusetts tribe was north of the Wampanoags
in the vicinity of Boston.

Some writers designate all these cognate tribes, even including
the Massachusetts, by the term Pokanoket, so called from the
tribal seat at Mount Hope, within the County of Bristol, R.I.
“The dominion properly belonging to the Wampanoags was
known as Pokanoket” (Bodge).

Massassoit’s residence was at Sowams (now Barrington, R.L.).
One of his residences was also at Mount Hope, which afterwards
became the residence of his son Philip or Metacomet.

(e8]
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Massassoit had two brothers, Akkompoin and Quadequina, who
were his counselors. The two of his sons known to fame were
Wamsutta (Alexander) and Pometacom, Metacom or Metacomet
(Philip). Alexander married Weetamoo, queen of the Pocassets,
and Philip married her sister Wootonekanuske. After Alexander’s
death Weetamoo married Petonowowett, known as *“Peter
Nunuit” or “Ben.”

Massassoit had a daughter Amie, who became the wife of
Tuspaquin, chief of the Namaskets, and their daughter (Philip’s
niece) married John Sassamon, who became private secretary to
Philip and betrayed him to the English.

King Philip had a nine-year-old son, who was captured by the
English and with his noble mother was sold into slavery in the
West Indies.

The Narragansetts were a large and important tribe who lived
to the west of Narragansett Bay. Their chief sachem was the
great Canonicus, who was succeeded by his nephew, Miantonomi,
and he in turn by his son Canonchet, who led his braves at Pierce’s
fight and died heroically for the lost cause of his people.

King Philip’s War began on “Fast Day,” June 24, 1675, in
Swansea, on the borders of Rehoboth, and ended within the
limits of Rehoboth by the capture of Annawan, Aug. 28, 1676.

Between these two dates Rehoboth was kept in an almost
constant state of alarm and suffered severely from its proximity
to Mount Hope, Philip’s head-quarters. With the exception of
the garrison houses the whole town was at one time laid in ashes,
and a number of the inhabitants were, at different times, slain.

Massassoit was a wise pacifist and the abiding friend of the
white scttlers, so that during his lifetime there was no serious
trouble. However much he may have felt the encroachments of
the English on his territory, he continued to surrender to them
large tracts of land for a meager compensation, and, dying in 1662,
left his sons a legacy of good-will and a good name. His eldest
son Alexander succeeded him, but died the same year under cir-
cumstances which seemed to the Indians suspicious. By the
order of succession Philip, alius Mclacomet, the second son of the
noble Osamequin, became chief of the Wampanoags. Bliss, in
his history, sets forth vividly what he conceives to have been
Philip’s motives in bringing on war.

“Things for a while wore a pacific aspect, though it is evident
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that, from his accession, Philip cherished feelings of jealousy and
hostility towards his English neighbors; and that, sensible of their
growing power and the rapid decrease of the Indians, and secing
the inevitable fate that awaited him and his people, should the
English be left to spread themselves thus unmolested, he de-
termined to make one desperate effort to free himself and his
country by a war of utter extermination. The better to effect this
and disguise his intentions, he amused the English by professions
of friendship and submission; renewed the treaties which his
father had made; disposed of his lands, and gave quit-claims of
those before sold by his father and brother, to raise the means for
supplying his men with fire-arms and ammunition; cultivated
the friendship of the neighboring tribes of Indians, smothering
the feuds and reconciling the quarrels of centuries; and thus, by
deluding the English, and strengthening himself by increasing
his connexions and alliances, he was preparing secretly and silently
the war which was to shake New England to its center and deluge
the land with blood.”

Admitting the general fairness of this presentation, we will
also look at the matter from a somewhat different point of view.
Modern writers have sharply scored the New England Puritans
for their selfish greed in dealing with the real owners of the soil.
With few exceptions, like John Eliot and Edward Winslow, they
were inclined to exploit their Indian neighbors for their own ad-
vantage. The Indian’s ignorance was his weakness and his un-
doing. To the Englishman he was a heathen with no rights one
was bound to respect. “Once an undisputed lord of the lands of
his ancestors, he became an exile or an object of sordid traffic.
He saw the graves of his people robbed and defaced, and later on,
himself debauched and unscrupulously plundered.” This may help
explain the growing hatred of the Indian for his white neighbor,
driving him at times to cruel reprisals.

Such bitterness and wrath was not developed in these unsophis-
ticated humans without a cause. We call them savages, but their
lives were simple and primitive before they learned the vices and
deceptive tricks of an aggressive civilization.

The statement is often made by historians that the Indians
were fairly paid for their lands. In the case of the Pilgrim fathers
at Plymouth, led by men like Winslow and Bradford, this was in
the main true. The continnance of the colony depended on the
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friendship of Massassoit and his people, while he on his part
needed the protection of the colony. Doubtless the treatment
of the Indian by the Plymouth Pilgrims was on the whole kind
and equitable. Had the later comers been as forbearing as these,
there would have been no bloody war to chronicle, for there was
a kindly response to such fair treatment from men like the great
Massassoit, brave old Canonicus of the Narragansetts, and the
noble Samoset, and we believe their successors might have been
won in like manner.

But the Puritan coming later with his rougher conscience began
to encroach on the Indians’ rights, absorbing their hunting-
grounds, their cornfields and the streams that supplied them with
fish; and the Englishman’s apology for all this was his superior
civilization, giving him, as he professed to believe, a right to the
heathen’s inheritance, even as Joshua drove out the old Cana-
anites and took possession of their land. If the Indian gave a deed
of his lands to the Englishman, it was by an instrument of which
he had slight comprehension, the consideration for which was a
pittance,— a few fathoms of wampum, a few hatchets and coats,
and perhaps a bit of tobacco with a looking-glass thrown in. Too
often the poor savage was a modern Esau, selling his birthright
for a mess of pottage as in the case of Robin Hood, a Maine sachem,
who deeded a large tract of land on the Sasanoa for a hogshead of
corn and a few pumpkins. Even old Rehoboth was bought of
Massassoit for ten fathoms of wampum, equal at that time to
fifty shillings, with a coat thrown in. Thus within two generations
the settlers had absorbed all the Pokanoket lands, until Philip
found himself and his whole tribe hemmed within the narrow
bounds of Mt. Hope Neck, with no way out except by canoe or
through his neighbor’s fenced land.

Drake in his introductory chapter to “The Old Indian Chron-
icle,” remarks (p. 2): ‘“Had every white inhabitant who sat him-
self down by the side of an Indian been kind and generous, dis-
covered less of avarice, and not taken pains to make himself
offensive by his unmistakable haughtiness, few cases of contention
would have arisen.”

Philip had arranged that the great blow should be struck in the
spring of 1676, which would wipe out the English Colonists or
drive them from the country, but for two reasons mainly he was

forced to begin the war before his plans were matured; one of
5
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these was the impatience of the young warriors, and the other
was the treachery of John Sassamon. This bursting out of the
war nearly a year before the appointed time cost Philip the
early support of the Narragansetts, although they joined him
some months later.

As early as the spring of 1671, the English settlers became
alarmed at the evidence they discovered of warlike preparations
on the part of King Philip and they suspected that some plot was
on foot for their destruction. There is no documentary proof that
such was the case, but numerous strange Indians seen mingling
with the Wampanoags, together with Philip’s reluctance to meet
the Colonists at Taunton at their request, excited their suspicions,
and they demanded that he appear before them on the 13th of
April. Thus coerced, Philip came to Taunton with some of his
sachems. Here he was met by the armed militia of the town, not
without hostile demonstrations, but after some parleying it was
agreed that a council should be held in the Taunton meeting-
house, one side of which should be occupied by the English and the
other by the Indians.

The English charged him with plotting rebellion against their
government, although the question is pertinent, as Pierce says in
his Indian Hzistory (p. 57), “how King Philip, an independent
prince and ruler of another nation, could thus rebel.” He was
pressed to sign a treaty of allegiance to the King of England and
to surrender all guns and ammunition held by the Indians. Into
such straits did the hard diplomacy of the English bring this un-
tutored savage.

At this date bows and arrows had been mostly superseded by
guns, upon which the Indians had come to rely almost exclusively
for providing themselves with game for food. To be forced to give
up their chief means of livelihood which they had bought and
owned, and which if once surrendered could never be recovered,
seemed to them nothing less than robbery. But Philip, swallowing
his anger and righteous resentment at such demands, signed the
treaty known as “his submission,” along with his chief captains,
and surrendered what guns his men had with them at the time;
but one can hardly believe he intended to carry out a promise
exacted under such unfair conditions.

The failure of the Indians generally to comply with these terms,
which would render them practically helpless, caused a meeting
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of the Commissioners of the United Colonies to be held at Plym-
outh in September of that year, which extorted from Philip the
promise to pay within three years £100 of such things as he had
and to send to the governor of Plymouth Colony five wolves’
heads yearly. This new promise, dated Sept. 26, 1671, was signed
by Philip and a few of his chiefs. A general disarming of the In-
dians was then undertaken with more or less friction, causing
hatred and a desire for revenge on the part of the Indians and
moving Philip to extend his destructive plot far and wide.

Meanwhile, the whites, thinking they had drawn the lion’s
teeth, were lulled into a false security for the next three years,
when an event occurred which precipitated the war.

John Sassamon (or Sausamon) was a native of Dorchester and
the son of “Praying Indians.”” He was educated by the English,
and assisted John Eliot in his translation of the Bible into the In-
dian tongue. He became a teacher at Natick, and afterwards a
preacher and missionary. He was of a restless and changeable
disposition, and when some difficulty arose at Natick, he left and
went to Mount Hope, where he became King Philip’s private
secretary and interpreter and learned his most secret plans. Re-
turning after some years to Natick, he was received into full
communion and was afterwards sent as missionary to the Na-
masket Indians at Middleborough, where he received from Tuspa-
quin, their chief, twenty-seven acres of land for a house-lot, at
Assawamset Neck, now in the town of Lakeville. The chief also
gave fifty-eight and a half acres to an Indian named Felix, who
married Sassamon’s daughter Betty, and the Neck where she
lived was called after her, Betty’s Neck, or Squawbetty, which it
bears to this day. Tuspaquin’s wife was Amie, the sister of
King Philip, and Sassamon married their daughter. He was
fully trusted by Philip and other members of the royal family
and learned at first hand the plot to cut off the English settle-
ments. This plot he revealed to the English at Plymouth, en-
joining secrecy lest his life should be forfeited. A few days later,
Jan. 29, 1674-5, Sassamon’s hody was found in Assawamset pond
with wounds and bruises indicating murder. Three Indians were
arrested and executed, two of whom denied all knowledge of the
act, but one confessed. One of the three was Tobias, a counselor
of King Philip. Probably Philip, on discovering Sassamon’s treach-
ery, condemned him to death after the Indian fashion. This exe-
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cution of his subjects by the English seemed to Philip a meddle-
some interference with the course of Indian justice, and so exas-
perated him that he now threw off all disguise and pushed his prep-
arations as diligently as possible. The Court, however, took
little notice of this except to forbid the lending of arms to the
Indians and to guard more carefully the frontier towns.

On the 14th of June, James Brown of Swansea went with a
friendly letter to Philip from Governor Winslow and found his
young warriors in a hostile mood. ‘Peter Nunuit” (Petonowo-
wett) told Captain Church that Brown would have been killed
had not Philip prevented it, saying that “his father had charged
him to show kindness to Mr. Brown.”

On Sunday, June 20, 1675, some Indians coming into Swansea
began to annoy the English by killing their cattle and burning two
houses, hoping thus to provoke an attack, as they had the idea
that the party who shed the first blood would be finally conquered.
An Englishman, angered by their insolence, fired upon one of
them and wounded him. This was a signal for the Indians to be-
gin the onset. Thursday, June 24th, was a day of fasting and
prayer in the Plymouth Colony, and during the services at Swan-
sea the Indians pillaged several houses and later fired upon the
people returning home from church, killing one man and wounding
others. Two men who were sent for a surgeon were also killed, and
in another part of the town, called Kickemuit, six men were slain
while hauling corn to Bourne’s garrison, making nine Englishmen
who were murdered in Swansea on this first day of the war. Mes-
sengers sent to treat with Philip and prevent an outbreak came
upon the bodies of the men slain in the highway, and speedily
turned back.

The people everywhere fled to the garrison-houses, whither they
carried their corn and other provisions. Runners were sent to
Boston and Plymouth for assistance. In Boston, at the beat of
drums, within three hours 110 men volunteered to take the field
under command of Capt. Samuel Mosely, also Capt. Daniel

" Henchman was soon on the march with his company of regulars,
and Capt. Thomas Prentice with his troop of horse.

The Plymouth people had been warned that the attack on Swan-
sea was imminent and had sent forward seventeen mounted men
from Bridgewater, who arrived at Bourne’s garrison in Mat-
tapoiset (now Gardner’s Neck) on June 22d. Here were col-
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lected seventy of the English, of whom fifty-four were women
and children. These were later transferred to the island of Rhode

Island for greater safety.
The Indians had already
taken their women and
children over to the Narra-
gansetts. The other Plym-
outh Colony troops were
assembled at Taunton and
placed under the command
of Capt. James Cudworth
of Scituate, who, outrank-
ing the Massachusetts offi-
cers, became, on reaching
Swansea, commander-in-
chief for the time being of

SUCCESSOR TO THE JOHN MILES GARRISBON
HOUSE, NEAR MILES' BRIDGE, BWANSEA

forces at Miles’ Garrison,
located at the west end of
Miles’ Bridge, just below
the Rehoboth line. By this
time the men, women, and
children of both Swansea
and Rehoboth had been
placed in the three chief
garrisons.!

10f the three principal garrison
houses into which tﬁe inhabit-
ants of Rehoboth and Swansea
were ’athered at times during

HATCHIl HOUSE, NORTH ATTLEBOROUGH, PART
OF WOODCOCK'S GARRISON, IN THE

NORTH PURCHASE

the combined forces of both
colonies.

The Massachusetts troops
leaving Boston on the 26th,
with only a brief halt at
Woodcock’s Garrison (at
North Attleborough), ar-
rived at Swansea late in the
afternoon of June 28th, and
there joined the Plymouth

BISHOP HOUSE, EAST PROVIDENCE, ON BITE
OF GARRIBON HOUBE AT BEEKONK COMMON

Philip’s War, one was in the Rehoboth North Purchase (now North Attle-

borough), called *“Woodcock’s Garrison’'; another on Seekonk Common (now - -
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The inaction of the Plymouth Colony forces while awaiting the
Boston reinforcements made the Indians so bold that, in the lan-
guage of Capt. Church, “they shot down two sentinels under the
very noses of the soldiers occupying Miles’ Garrison.”  They
were lying in wait on every side to kill all that went abroad. But
on the arrival of Capt. Prentice with his troopers, twelve of the
men under command of Corporal John Gill and Quartermaster
Joseph Belcher ventured a forward movement, and taking with
them Wm. Hammond as pilot, they crossed over to the east side
of Palmer’s River, when they were fired upon from an ambuscade,
and their pilot was mortally wounded. Belcher was also wounded
besides having his horse shot under him, and a musket-ball
ploughed its way through Gill’s buff coat. So terrified were the
troopers at this their first taste of actual warfare that they fled
panic-stricken back to their quarters; and but for the bravery
of Benjamin Church, who was in the party and was wounded in
the foot, they would have left their wounded companion and their
dead pilot in the hands of the enemy.

The next morning, June 29, the troops continued their pursuit
of the Indians. Passing over Miles’ bridge they swept down
through the country on the east bank of the river till they came
to the narrow part of the neck, to a place called Kickemuit, where
they found the heads of eight white men whom the Indians
had murdered and set upon poles by the side of the way. These
they took down and buried.!

East Providence, R.I.); and the third near Miles’ Bridge in the northern
art of Swansea. This was called “Miles’ Garrison,’”’ from the Rev. John
iles, the minister of Swansea, whose house was garrisoned. It stood a short
distance west of Miles’ Bridge which crosses Palmer’s River. Woodcock’s
Garrison was named from John Woodcock, who built his house and occupied
it before the war and after it during his life, for a public tavern. This garri-
son was near the Baptist Meeting-House in North Attleborough, on the spot
afterwards occupied by Hatch's tavern.

The old garrison, after standing one hundred and thirty-six years, was torn
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